The movement ecology of diving and flying guillemots and gulls during breeding

THOMAS J. EVANS DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY | FACULTY OF SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY



The movement ecology of diving and flying guillemots and gulls during breeding

Thomas Jude Evans



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be publicly defended in the Blue Hall, Ecology Building, Sölvegatan 37, Lund, Sweden on Friday 7th April, 2017, at 9.00 a.m.

> *Faculty opponent* Prof. Dr. Stefan Garthe,

Research and Technology Centre (FTZ), University of Kiel, Germany

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSEF	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Department of Biology, Evolutionary Biology, Sölvegatan 37, SE-22362 L Sweden	Date of issue 2017-03-14	Date of issue 2017-03-14	
Author(s) Thomas Jude Evans	Sponsoring organiza	tion	
Title and subtitle Across landscapes and seascapes The movement ecology of diving an	d flying guillemots and gulls during	g breeding	
Abstract Most seabirds breed colonially, at w both for themselves and for egg pro across two sites in Sweden in the Ba information on both flight and diving spatiotemporal aspects determine th activity. Further, I test theories of ho of how individual birds collect inform Chick-rearing Common Murre (CM, most around sunset and sunrise, wh They made longer distance and duri during daytime trips. In a following s the CMs activity, though murres did During flights returning from foraging <i>Larus fuscus</i>) optimally adjust their advinds and cross-winds, but red increasing altitude under tailwinds, but slower, under headwinds and cross LG are generalist foragers, at SK the were followed with GPS and observ. on land early in the breeding seasor foraged mostly at sea later in the see and low ground-cover, presumably Following four <i>Larus</i> gull species wit Fågelsundet (FS; 17.72°E, 60.63°N) gull species overlap in the types of species used just a couple of types of this variation was also present within LG from both SK and FS, followed v colonies, mostly after failed breeding sites, likely prospecting at alternative same coastal sites as the SK gulls v Key words <i>Uria aalge, Larus fuscus</i> .	hich time they make central-place duction/chick-rearing. How should altic Sea using GPS and time-dep activity. I use a movement ecolog nese species' movement activities which should optimally vary their ation on alternative breeding sites <i>Uria aalge</i>) from the island of Stor ene they made more frequent and ation overnight trips where they vis tudy I showed that the GPS device lose body mass which remains to g sites to their colony at SK, both G airspeeds to minimise their costs of g sites to their colony at SK, both G airspeeds to minimise their costs of ey feed both on land and at sea. Fa ations were made at arable fields a, and during early mornings espe ason, and later in the day. They for where soil living invertebrates and th GPS during the peak breeding I b, I show using an information redu oraging trip they use, while also us n species when comparing betweet vith GPS, made very long-distance g attempts. On the majority of thes be breeding colonies. The gulls fror vith no difference between sexes. Laridae, animal flight, foraging ed	foraging trips. Parents must collect food they forage? I followed five species th recorder (TDR) devices, giving y approach, asking questions about which and on how species differ in their foraging flight behaviour in response to winds, and s, i.e. prospecting. Ta Karlsö (SK; 17.97°E, 57.29°N), foraged shallower dives compared to at midday. sited more distant foraging areas than e deployed had little measurable effect on be explained. CM and Lesser Black-backed Gull (LG, of transport, increasing airspeed under /hile the gulls also adjusted their altitude, ds higher up, but flying low, where wind is ly low, close to the sea surface. How do they choose between these? LG on nearby Gotland. The gulls foraged most cially on cool and cloudy days, while they praged most on fields with short vegetation earthworms are more available. period at the Björn Archipelago at uction and clustering method how different sing distinct types of foraging trip. Some ed several types quite equally (generalists), en individuals. e return movements away from their se movements, gulls visited multiple coastal n FS travelled furthest, visiting many of the	
Classification system and/or index to	erms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English	
ISSN and key title		ISBN Print: 978-91-7753-186-9 PDF: 978-91-7753-187-6	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 319	Price	
	Security classification		

The movement ecology of diving and flying guillemots and gulls during breeding

Thomas Jude Evans



Cover image (front and back), 'Seabirds at Porth Ychain' by ©Diane Evans

Copyright ©Thomas Jude Evans

Faculty of Science Department of Biology

ISBN (Print) 978-91-7753-186-9 ISSN (PDF) 978-91-7753-187-6

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2017



"How good, how good does it feel to be free?"

And I answer them most mysteriously

"Are birds free from the chains of the skyway?"

Bob Dylan

Contents

List of Papers	10
Author Contributions	.11
Abstract	13
Popular Science Summary	15
Introduction and background	.19
Seabird life-history	.22
Coloniality in seabirds	.24
Optimal-foraging theory	.25
Central-place foraging: Where to breed and feed? Where to breed?	26 27
Where and how to feed?	28
Ashmole's halo	.30
Competition for food: populations and species	32
Competition for food: individuals	34
Diving and flight	36
The biologging revolution	.37
Movement ecology, using biologging to inform ecology	.39
Thesis aims	40
Methods	.41
Study sites The island of Stora Karlsö The Björn Archipelago at Fågelsundet	.41 .41 .42
Study species Common Murre Lesser Black-backed Gull	.44 .44 .46
Mew, Herring, and Great Black-backed gulls	48

Instrumentation
GPS tracking50
Time-depth recorders (TDR)51
Handling and capture51
Land based observations
Results and discussion
Paper I: Foraging behaviour of common murres in the Baltic Sea, recorded by simultaneous attachment of GPS and time-depth recorder devices55
Paper II: Back-mounted tags have limited effects on a flying and diving seabird
Paper III: Adaptive adjustment of flight height and airspeed in relation to winds in two morphologically distinct seabird species
Paper IV: Land or sea? Foraging area choice during breeding by an omnivorous gull
Paper V: Niche sharing and partitioning during foraging among a quartet of coastal gulls62
Paper VI: On the move for food or a new home? Long-distance return movements by Lesser Black-backed Gull during breeding64
Combined discussion and perspectives
Tack! Thanks! Diolch! የቐንየለይ Merci!
References

List of Papers

- I. Evans, T.J., Kadin, M., Olsson, O., and Åkesson, S. (2013). Foraging behaviour of common murres in the Baltic Sea, recorded by simultaneous attachment of GPS and time-depth recorder devices. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 475, 277–289.¹
- II. Evans, T.J., Young, R.C., Watson, H., Olsson, O., Åkesson, S. Backmounted tags have limited effects on a flying and diving seabird. (Manuscript, unsubmitted).
- III. Evans, T.J., Hedenström, A., Hentati-Sundberg, J., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Åkesson, S. Adaptive adjustment of flight height and airspeed in relation to winds in two morphologically distinct seabird species (Manuscript, submitted).
- IV. Isaksson, N., Evans, T.J., Shamoun-Baranes, J., and Åkesson, S. (2016) Land or sea? Foraging area choice during breeding by an omnivorous gull. *Movement Ecology* 4, 11.²
- V. Evans, T.J., Shiomi, K., Isaksson, N., Löteberg, U., Bouten, W., Åkesson, S. Niche sharing and partitioning during foraging among a quartet of coastal gulls. (Manuscript, unsubmitted).
- VI. Åkesson, S., Evans, T.J., Shiomi, K., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Bouten, W., and Lötberg, U. On the move for food or a new home? Long-distance return movements by Lesser Black-backed Gull during breeding. (Manuscript, unsubmitted).
- 1. Paper I is re-printed with the kind permission of the publishers (Inter-Research). Reprinted under special license from the copyright holder. The complete article is not to be copied or distributed separately from the thesis. This restriction ends February 14, 2018.
- 2. Paper IV is Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

Author Contributions

- I. T.E. O.O, and S.Å. conceived the study. T.E., M.K. performed the fieldwork. T.E. analysed the data with input from M.K. and S.Å. The initial manuscript was drafted by T.E. with input from M.K. and S.Å., and all authors contributed to and gave approval to the submission for publication of the final manuscript.
- II. T.E. conceived the study with input from R.Y and S.Å. T.E. and R.Y. carried out the fieldwork. T.E., R.Y., and H.W. performed the lab work. T.E. analysed the data with input from R.Y., H.W. and S.Å. T.E. drafted the initial manuscript. All authors contributed to the final manuscript.
- III. T.E., A.H., and S.Å. designed the study. T.E. carried out the fieldwork with guidance from J.H-S. and S.Å. T.E. analysed the data with input from A.H., S.Å., and J.S-B. T.E. drafted the initial manuscript. All authors contributed to and gave approval to the submission for publication of the final manuscript.
- IV. N.I., T.E., and S.Å. designed the study. N.I. and T.E. carried out the fieldwork with the agricultural-field observations and the GPS-tracking components led by N.I. and T.E. respectively. N.I. and T.E. performed the statistical analysis, and co-drafted the manuscript with input from S.Å and J.S-B. All authors gave approval to the submission for publication of the final manuscript.
- V. T.E., S.Å., U.L., and K.S. conceived the study. T.E., S.Å., U.L., and K.S carried out the fieldwork. T.E. analysed the data with input from K.S. and N.I. T.E. drafted the initial manuscript. All authors contributed to the final manuscript.
- VI. S.Å., T.E., and K.S. conceived the study. S.Å., T.E., K.S. and U.L. performed the fieldwork. S.Å. and T.E. analysed the data. S.Å. drafted the initial manuscript with input from T.E. All authors contributed to the final manuscript.
- A.H., Anders Hedenström; H.W., Hannah Watson; J.H-S., Jonas Hentati-Sundberg; J.S-B., Judy Shamoun-Baranes; M.K., Martina Kadin; N.I., Natalie Isaksson; O.O., Olof Olsson; R.Y., Rebecca C. Young; S.Å., Susanne Åkesson; T.E., Thomas J. Evans; U.L., Ulrik Lötberg; W.B., Willem Bouten

Abstract

Most seabirds breed colonially, at which time they make central-place foraging trips. Parents must collect food both for themselves and for egg production/chick-rearing. How should they forage? I followed five species across two sites in Sweden in the Baltic Sea using GPS and time-depth recorder (TDR) devices, giving information on both flight and diving activity. I use a movement ecology approach, asking questions about which spatiotemporal aspects determine these species' movement activities and on how species differ in their foraging activity. Further, I test theories of how birds should optimally vary their flight behaviour in response to winds, and of how individual birds collect information on alternative breeding sites, i.e. prospecting.

Chick-rearing Common Murre (*Uria aalge*) from the island of Stora Karlsö (SK; 17.97°E, 57.29°N), foraged most around sunset and sunrise, when they made more frequent and shallower dives compared to at midday. They made longer distance and duration overnight trips where they visited more distant foraging areas than during daytime trips. In a following study I showed that the GPS device deployed had little measurable effect on the Common Murre's activity, though murres did lose body mass which remains to be explained.

During flights returning from foraging sites to their colony at Stora Karlsö, both Common Murre and Lesser Black-backed Gull (*Larus fuscus*) optimally adjust their airspeeds to minimise their costs of transport, increasing airspeed under headwinds and cross-winds, but reducing airspeed under tailwinds. While the gulls also adjusted their altitude, increasing altitude under tailwinds, thus benefiting from the faster winds higher up, but flying low, where wind is slower, under headwinds and crosswinds; the murres though always fly low, close to the sea surface.

Lesser Black-backed Gull are generalist foragers, at Stora Karlsö they feed both on land and at sea. How do they choose between these? Lesser Black-backed Gull were followed with GPS and observations were made at arable fields on nearby Gotland. The gulls foraged most on land early in the breeding season, and during early mornings especially on cool and cloudy days, while they foraged mostly at sea later in the season, and later in the day. They foraged most on fields with short vegetation and low ground-cover, presumably where soil living invertebrates and earthworms are more available. Following four *Larus* gull species with GPS during the peak breeding period at the Björn Archipelago at Fågelsundet (FS; 17.72°E, 60.63°N), I show using an information reduction and clustering method how different gull species overlap in the types of foraging trip they use, while also using distinct types of foraging trip. Some species used just a couple of types of trip (specialist), while others used several types quite equally (generalists), this variation was also present within species when comparing between individuals.

Lesser Black-backed Gull from both Stora Karlsö and Fågelsundet, followed with GPS, made very long-distance return movements away from their colonies, mostly after failed breeding attempts. On the majority of these movements, gulls visited multiple coastal sites, likely prospecting at alternative breeding colonies. The gulls from Fågelsundet travelled furthest, visiting many of the same coastal sites as the Stora Karlsö gulls with no difference between sexes.



Common Murre with time-depth recorder (Photo: Tom Evans/CC BY-NC 4.0)

Popular Science Summary

Some seabirds we encounter only fleetingly, as they fly by as we walk along the beach, or perhaps meet far out at sea when we take a boat trip. Others though we are more familiar with, such as the 'seagulls' that many will not even turn their head to appreciate. Yet, all seabirds have remarkable stories to tell, and we are fortunate now to live at a time where we can follow individual birds as they fly out to sea, and even as they dive down under the sea. So they can now tell their own stories through their movements. This is all thanks to small devices sharing much in common with the smartphone in your pocket. In this thesis I follow several species of seabird during the spring and early summertime, when they come to land to lay their eggs and raise chicks. I look at how they forage during this time and how they react and respond to the changing conditions around them both across the season, within days, and as the winds change.

In this thesis I study five species of seabird. The Common Guillemot (or Murre in North America, and the internationally accepted common name, hence Murre is used throughout the rest of this thesis), effectively a rather small flying penguin, the guillemots can fly out from the rock ledges on which they breed on sea cliffs where they lay their single egg and raise their chick, then land on the sea where they then proceed to dive deep down under the water (85 m is the record in this thesis, but they have been recorded to dive >200 m) to catch fish. On the same Swedish island as the guillemot, at Stora Karlsö, located in the western central Baltic Sea, I also followed Lesser Black-backed Gull. These make a nest where they raise up to three chicks. Like the guillemots, these gulls can feed out at sea, but they only catch prey at the surface, unlike the guillemots they also forage inland. The final three species are three further gull species, these studied further north, in eastern central Sweden, at the Björn Archipelago at Fågelsundet south of Gävle. The four gull species together range in body size from the small Common (or Mew) Gull, through to the Lesser Blackbacked Gull, the Herring Gull, and up to the largest of all gulls, the Greater Blackbacked Gull.

I used GPS devices to learn where the birds went and when. The GPS gives us more than just a location, it also tells us how fast, in what direction, and how high our birds fly. The GPS is a small match-box sized device that sits on the back of our birds, either attached by tape to feathers (on guillemots) or by a backpack type harness (the gulls). We learn how the guillemot dives thanks to water pressure increasing predictably with depth, thus by recording the pressure experienced by the guillemot over time we can observe their diving activity; this I did using a second device, a timedepth recorder or 'TDR'. The TDRs are much smaller than the GPS, and were attached on plastic rings to the guillemots' legs.

In paper I, I found that the guillemots mostly forage around sunset and sunrise, at these times they make more frequent and shallow dives compared to around midday. This likely reflects that the guillemots need light to forage, so can only forage deep down under the midday sun. More importantly though, maybe, the fish they eat spend most of the day in deeper water, but at night these come close the surface where they forage on smaller animals (zooplankton), thus the fish are then more assessable to the guillemots. The guillemots made two types of foraging trip, longer duration and distance overnight trips, and shorter daytime trips. On the long overnight trips they travelled further, potentially to more productive areas with more fish available, on the shorter trips they foraged relatively near to their nesting island. This may allow them to balance feeding for themselves (long trips) with catching fish for their chicks (short trips).

We assume that the stories told by the seabirds through their movements recorded with the electronic devices do not differ from that told by birds not carrying devices; in other words we assume the devices do not much affect the activity of the birds tracked. Following up from paper I, I set out to investigate this in paper II. I compared the activity of guillemots carrying both the GPS and TDR devices, and the same individuals with just the TDR. In this way I found that their foraging activity was little affected by carrying the GPS devices. However, whilst carrying GPS loggers, the guillemots lost more mass than when without, suggesting some effect of loggers on the guillemots' condition. This could suggest that the guillemots used more energy to maintain the same activity levels, or that the extra weight and drag from the device reduced their success in catching their prey fish.

For birds flying through the air, wind has a large influence on how quickly they can travel, and how much energy they must use to travel, it can be both beneficial and a negative influence depending on the direction of the wind relative to where the bird wishes to travel. Therefore, we expect birds to change their flight behaviour as wind conditions change. This I investigated in paper III. During their flights returning from foraging sites out at sea back to their colony at Stora Karlsö, both the guillemots and gulls adjusted their speed of flight relative to the air around them (airspeed) to minimise their energy use for a given distance travelled. They increased their airspeed under headwinds and cross-winds, but reduced their airspeed under tailwinds. While the gulls also adjusted how high they flew, flying higher under tailwinds, thus benefiting from the faster winds higher up, but flying low, where wind is slower, under headwinds and crosswinds. The guillemots always flew low, close to the sea surface. Gulls are flexible foragers, able to use a wide range of prey found in different habitats, both on land and at sea. I investigate how they vary their foraging activity across habitats, over time, and between species in papers IV and V.

The Lesser Black-backed gulls at Stora Karlsö feed both out at sea and on arable fields on nearby Gotland. In paper IV, I followed individual gulls with GPS and complemented this with observations on the arable fields they visit. The gulls foraged most on land early in the breeding season, and during early mornings especially on cool and cloudy days, while they foraged mostly at sea later in the season, and later in the day. When on land, they foraged most on fields with short vegetation and low ground-cover. Together this suggests the gulls are feeding on soil living invertebrates and earthworms especially; for earthworms come more to the soil surface at night (continuing into the early morning) especially under damp conditions. The seasonal changes may either come about through the gulls having different food requirements through the season, for themselves or their eggs/chicks, or through changes in the availability of different prey. The study suggests that availability may play a role, for the most suitable arable fields (short vegetation with bare soil) were more available early in the season.

At the Björn Archipelago, at Fågelsundet, five different species of gull breed alongside each other across a range of small islands. In paper V, I followed four of these species with GPS to compare how they each forage in this common area. I got data for nearly 800 foraging trips made by these species. To find out whether individual gulls across species used similar types of foraging trip I used an analytical method where similar trips were grouped together, clustering. This suggested seven main types of foraging trip used across all the species. Some of these were used by multiple species, such as foraging on landfill/refuse sites, which both Herring and Great Black-backed gulls did. While, others were nearly unique to one species, this was the case for long distance foraging trips travelling out to sea, used nearly exclusively by the Lesser Black-backed gulls. Species also varied in how many different types of trip they performed, with Common Gull using mostly five different types of trip, whereas the Lesser Black-backed gulls mostly used just two types of trip. Patterns also varied within species, though overall a species might use several different foraging trips types, any given individual within the species might only use a subset of these. This was the case for the Great Black-backed gulls. Conversely, by following just one Herring Gull we would observe the majority of the types of trips this species uses, for all individuals were similar in their foraging patterns.

In the final study, paper VI, we leave the immediate area around the study islands, as Lesser Black-backed gulls travel widely across the Baltic Sea. Following breeding failure, or under poor local conditions birds may choose to move to a new breeding site. They could do this through random dispersal, but more effectively they may visit a range of potential sites to find which are best. Following breeding failure, many of the Lesser Black-backed gulls followed by GPS at both study sites made long distance return movements lasting up to 27 days. On some trips they remained at sea, visiting more distant, but likely more productive, foraging areas. On the majority though they would visit multiple coastal sites around the Baltic Sea islands and coasts, this suggests prospecting at alternative breeding colonies. The gulls from Björn Archipelago travelled furthest, both to the north and visiting many of the same coastal sites as the Stora Karlsö gulls across the south-central Baltic Sea.



Fig. 1. Seabirds at Bempton Cliffs, England (Photo: Tom Evans/CC BY-NC 4.0)

Introduction and background

As thousands of individuals get on with their daily lives around you, going in their different directions, all apparently so busy, one cannot help but wonder, what are they are all up to? Initially a seabird colony seems an impossibly disordered explosion of life (Fig. 1.), yet soon one starts to notice common scenes across the colony. A Common Murre (*Uria aalge, Pontoppidan, 1763*) or guillemot (*hereafter bird species common and scientific names and authorities follow IOC convention,* Gill & Donsker 2015) flies towards a cliff ledge with a fish in its bill (Fig. 2.), it greets its partner, then feeds their hungry chick. Where has it been? How far did it travel? How deep did it have to dive to catch the fish? How did it cope with the wind during its flight back to the island?



Fig. 2. Common Murre with a clupeid fish to feed its chick (Photo: ©Aron Hejdström)

Seabirds have long fascinated people, with their seemingly mystical lives connecting land, sea, and sky (e.g. Savage 1987). Scientists have also long been interested in seabirds owing to their special biology, superficially familiar with their late breeding maturity, long life-spans, and monogamy. Yet, also unfamiliar with their foraging in an alien water world, and their leaving land for months, even years at a time. In a classic book on seabird natural history written by James Fisher and Ronald Lockley in the 1950s (Fisher and Lockley 1954), it is clear that some of the general themes of seabird research were already much developed. They write about: demography, how large populations of seabirds are sustained; breeding behaviour; and movement and migration. Yet, the last of these subjects would remain largely in the dark until the final years of the 20th century, when the seabirds' lives at sea were revealed in the brilliant light of biologging.

Far offshore there are no obvious landmarks, yet seabirds perform long migrations and foraging trips over these open oceans and seas making them an obvious focus for researchers interested in how animals find their way. Ringing recoveries of Manx Shearwater (*Puffinus puffinus, Brünnich, 1764*) on the coast of Argentina from shearwaters breeding on Skokholm Island in the western British Isles demonstrated that this species migrate thousands of kilometres across a large part of the Atlantic (Fisher and Lockley 1954). This led to several long-distance displacement experiments where breeding shearwaters from the island were transported up to 5,500 km to sites including Boston and Venice (Matthews 1953) then released. These same birds were then re-sighted at their colony under three weeks later, demonstrating the remarkable navigational abilities of seabirds.

Commonly seabirds form dense breeding aggregations, or colonies, with often thousands of birds. During the breeding period seabirds must continue to forage, yet are restricted in how far they may travel because of the need to return to incubate their clutch or feed their chicks. This situation makes breeding seabirds an interesting study system for studies of foraging ecology in animals, for the birds have a very small 'breeding territory', usually just the nest, but a large common foraging area shared with others breeding nearby. This raises many questions: do seabirds deplete prey near the colony? How do they locate their food? How do they trade-off caring for their brood while maintaining their own condition? How do they compete with other species of seabird nesting nearby; do they forage at the same sites on the same prey?

Though I here talk of seabirds as a single discreet group of birds, the label is problematic. Birds are traditionally classified into three discreet groups according to their foraging habitat, being either seabirds, those foraging exclusively at sea and only returning to land to breed; shorebirds, those birds that forage mostly at the waters' edge in the inter-tidal zone; and terrestrial birds which use neither sea nor shore, but forage on land. These classifications fit well for some groups, such as the petrels and albatrosses (Procellariiformes) for which all species forage nearly exclusively at sea (though still with an exception in giant petrels, *Macronectes spp.*, *Richmond*, 1905), but less well for gulls and terns (Laridae and Sternidae) for instance, where individual gulls may forage on both land and at sea within a breeding season (e.g. Lesser Black-backed Gull, *Larus fuscus, L., 1758*, Camphuysen *et al.* 2015) or use both marine and terrestrial habitats across their annual cycle (e.g. Caspian Tern, *Hydroprogne caspia, Pallas, 1770*, Shiomi, Lötberg & Åkesson 2015). In the end the label 'seabird' is just a useful shorthand for a group of birds (for species usually included see: Brooke 2002) that have a reasonably common ecology. Schreiber and Burger (2001) summarised this succinctly; "the one common characteristic that all seabirds share is that they feed in saltwater, but, as seems to be true with any statement in biology, some do not".

Many seabird species' populations are in decline, with a ca. 70% decline in those that have been well monitored since 1950 (Paleczny et al. 2015), and a high-proportion are classified as near-threatened or threatened on the IUCN Red List (Croxall et al. 2012). Threats to seabirds include: climate change (Grémillet and Boulinier 2009, Frederiksen and Haug 2015), nest predation by invasive species (Jones et al. 2008), and industrial fisheries reducing prey availability (Cury et al. 2011). Given these threats, understanding the basic ecology of the group is essential for their effective conservation. For example to protect the key foraging grounds of seabirds through protected areas it is necessary to understand both the inter-annual and interindividual variation in foraging site use (Soanes et al. 2013, Bogdanova et al. 2014), though general guidelines may still be drawn from colony locations and speciesspecific foraging ranges (Thaxter et al. 2012). Beyond the intrinsic value of conserving seabirds, research increasingly suggests that megafauna and predators may play important roles in nutrient transfer, linking ecosystems, and ecosystem functioning (Doughty et al. 2016). Even apparently purely academic questions, such as whether there are sex and age differences in foraging behaviour may have conservation implications, such as for why in Wandering Albatross (Diomedea exulans, L., 1758) there are sex and age specific rates of fisheries' bycatch (Weimerskirch et al. 2006, 2014, Jiménez et al. 2015).

Many seabirds spend a long time away from land over the non-breeding period, often thousands of kilometres away from their breeding grounds and during which time they will moult. During breeding they will often be based on an offshore island or coastal cliffs. Most species follow an annual cycle of breeding and migration, though some follow multi-year cycles with 'sabbatical years' such as Wandering Albatross (Weimerskirch et al. 2014). This thesis will focus on the breeding period, discussing the foraging ecology of seabirds in this critical period. I will consider the wider ecological theory relating to foraging and how this applies to seabirds. Much seabird foraging ecology can be explained in the context of their life-history strategy and their colonial nesting, thus I start with these two points, then go on to discuss optimalforaging theory, central-place foraging, and diet and niche partitioning within and between populations. At the end of this introduction and background section I discuss how new technologies are rapidly advancing our understanding of the movement ecology of foraging seabirds before introducing my thesis aims. This is followed by: methods, presenting the species, study sites, and technologies and techniques used. Results and discussion summarising the main findings of the thesis, and ending up with the conclusions and my perspectives gained at the end of this work.

Seabird life-history

At 66 years old, 'Wisdom' is a mother again, as I write this in February 2017 she is rearing a chick (Fig. 3.). As the oldest recorded breeding bird (a record that she keeps breaking year after year), she, a Laysan Albatross (Phoebastria immutabilis, Rothschild, 1893), makes news headlines around the world (e.g. Fears 2015; Milman 2015). She is an extreme example, but still representative of the general life-history strategy of seabirds, which have long lives, delayed sexual maturity, and low fecundity (Ricklefs 1990, Gaston 2004). This life-history strategy reflects the constraints imposed on the movement of seabirds during the breeding period, when they need land to breed. They feed on often unpredictable and patchy marine prey, which limits the rate at which they can feed their chicks, and thus also the number of chicks that can be reared at one time. Breeding in dense colonies, often on small offshore islands, parents are constrained in their ability to rear young. As they cannot form foraging territories, they have to travel further to forage on shared resources. This often leads to relatively long foraging trips of several hours or days (see 'Central-place foraging' below). Together these factors are thought to have driven the evolution of monogamy across seabirds, with bi-parental care required to both feed their chicks at a sufficiently high rate and to allow one parent to be present at the colony to incubate or guard the brood (at least for young chicks). This then necessitates that the male parent is confident of paternity (Griffith et al. 2002, Gaston 2004), thus leading to low levels of extra-pair paternity in seabirds, usually <<20% (Quillfeldt et al. 2012).

Many different life-history strategies have been described across biology leading from different trade-offs between reproduction and survival (Jones et al. 2014). These different strategies are generally explained with the slow-fast continuum (Ricklefs and Wikelski 2002), with the opposing extremes of 'live slow, die old' or 'live fast, die young'. Seabirds live their lives at the slow end of this continuum, having low fecundity but long life-spans. Their long-lives lead to significant trade-offs between current and future reproductive attempts (e.g. Chastel, Weimerskirch & Jouventin 1995), and indeed as variance in reproductive success between individuals within a colony is often low, survival may be a greater determinant of life-time reproductive success (Moreno 2003).



Fig. 3. 'Wisdom', a 66 year old Laysan Albatross with her chick on 7th February 2017 (Photo: Naomi Blinick/USFWS Volunteer/CC BY-NC 2.0)

Wandering Albatross begin breeding at a mean age of ten years, and rarely visit their breeding colony until 5 years old (Weimerskirch et al. 2014); this an illustrative (if extreme) example of the typically delayed sexual maturity of seabirds (Gaston 2004). Why delay breeding so long? The main theory for this pattern is that seabirds learn about their environment in their first years (juvenile or immature life-stages), improving their foraging success thus increasing their potential for successful breeding. Learning foraging skills may also be important; for instance diving efficiency improves in early life for King Penguin (Aptenodytes patagonicus, Miller, JF, 1778) (Orgeret et al. 2016). Juvenile and immature birds (both non breeding) show lower foraging efficiency and less association with productive marine areas than adults in several species; Cory's Shearwater (Calonectris borealis, Cory, 1881) (Missagia et al. 2015), Manx Shearwater (Fayet et al. 2015), and Wandering Albatross (Weimerskirch et al. 2006, Riotte-Lambert and Weimerskirch 2013). These studies support the theory that younger seabirds explore their environment, learning the location of more productive foraging grounds. However, a potentially confounding factor for all these studies are that the young birds are not breeding, thus are not as constrained in their foraging behaviour as the older, usually breeding, adult birds (e.g. in maintaining body reserves during incubation). A study comparing diet, inferred

from stable isotope profiles, in Cory's shearwaters (of a different population than in Missagia *et al.* 2015) found no difference in diet between sabbatical (i.e. non-breeding) mature shearwaters and immature (also non-breeding) shearwaters, but did find differences in diet between breeding mature birds and the sabbatical birds (Campioni et al. 2016). Campioni et al. (2016) suggest that differences between immature and mature seabirds are more likely a result of greater foraging constraints on the breeders ('the reproductive constraint hypothesis'), with intra-specific niche segregation then resulting between breeders and non-breeders (often immatures).

Though older birds are generally more successful than younger birds, in late life they may senesce, with increased annual mortality rates for older birds observed across several species: Southern Fulmar (*Fulmarus glacialoides*, Smith, A, 1840) (Jones et al. 2014) and Common Tern (*Sterna hirundo*, L., 1758) (Zhang et al. 2015); and reduced breeding success in very old age: Common Murre (Reed et al. 2008), Southern Fulmar (Jones et al. 2014), and Common Tern (Zhang et al. 2015). These patterns are complex though; Wandering Albatross show declining breeding success with age but also apparently anticipate their final demise, giving higher reproductive investment to their final breeding attempt when their expectation of future reproductive output should be low, thus offsetting their senescence (Froy et al. 2013). Further, ageing is unlikely to be constant, for instance in Thick-billed Murres (*Uria lomvia, L. 1758*) rates of biological aging (inferred from rates of telomere shortening) vary between colonies with rates higher at a colony with poor environmental conditions (Young et al. 2013).

Coloniality in seabirds

Nearly all seabirds are colonial (Gaston 2004), that is their territories "contain no resource other than nest sites" (Danchin and Wagner 1997), with birds breeding gregariously (Fig. 1.). Coloniality is common across birds having evolved independently over 20 times (Siegel-Causey and Kharitonov 1990), and its evolution has been reviewed for seabirds (Coulson 2001) and for auks specifically (Birkhead 1985). Many explanations have been given for why seabirds are usually colonial, and most of these are not mutually exclusive, the two most commonly cited reasons being a shortage of suitable nesting sites, or protection from predators.

As seabirds' primarily forage at sea, but must nest on land, they are expected to breed on coasts or islands as close to their foraging grounds as possible to limit travel costs. Offshore islands are often the closest sites available, but may be small, thus forcing seabirds to nest close together. Gaston (2004) suggested a close parallel to this situation with cave-nesting swiftlets (*Collocalia spp.*), that also feed on mobile and patchily distributed prey (insects) and have rare nesting habitat (caves). Protection from predators likely interacts with the shortage of suitable nesting sites, forcing seabirds to nest even closer together to reduce predation risk, as above a certain breeding density it is likely more effective to clump together at relatively safer sites (e.g. cliffs) than try to hide (Wittenberger and Hunt 1985).

Other reasons given include the 'hidden lek' (Wagner 1999), where males cluster nests to individually get more opportunities for extra pair matings; and the 'information centre' (Ward and Zahavi 1973), that by breeding close together birds can benefit by getting information from others nesting nearby (reviewed recently in Evans, Votier & Dall 2015), which may be particularly beneficial in seabirds foraging on ephemeral and patchily distributed prey (Clode 1993).

During breeding, seabirds' foraging ecology is driven largely by their colonial living, with the need to return to their nesting location between foraging bouts. These conditions thus lead to competition for foraging being higher near the colony where there is a high density of birds, hence seabirds normally have to travel some distance to forage.

Optimal-foraging theory

Seabirds forage in a challenging environment, their prey are at first glance hidden from view, usually being underwater, and though prey are often aggregated, the distribution of prey aggregations changes day to day. How then does a seabird forage most effectively? To answer this question we should consider the general challenge of optimal foraging for any predator-prey system. Then we can apply these insights to seabirds, then look at the consequences of restrictions on movement placed by breeding, usually colonially (see above), which lead to central-place foraging.

The ideal free distribution (IFD) (Fretwell and Lucas 1969) is the basic model of optimal-foraging theory developed in the 1960s, then subsequently expanded and adapted (MacArthur and Pianka 1966, Charnov 1976, Bernstein et al. 1988, Kacelnik et al. 1992). IFD gives the expected distribution of predators with respect to prey, it essentially predicts that predators should be distributed in proportion to the prey available at a patch (*i.e.* density dependence). IFD makes various simplifying assumptions, including: that resources are distributed in patches; travel time between patches is negligible; that predators know the potential intake rate for all patches; and the rate of intake decreases with increasing number of predators in a patch.

The assumption that prey are distributed in patches is rarely met in the strict sense, where prey are only found in patches, and within patches prey are uniformly distributed (Arditi and Dacorogna 1988). However, both seabirds (Certain et al. 2007) and their prey have been found to be patchily distributed, but this is highly

scale dependent, with for example fish organised in shoals at 10s of metres scale, patches at km scale, and patches also aggregated at 100s km scale (Weimerskirch 2007, Fauchald 2009, Wakefield et al. 2009a). To what extent seabirds in general track their prey is unclear. In one study, the distribution at sea of Common Murre and Atlantic Puffin (Fratercula arctica, L. 1758) were found to be closely associated with the distribution of their main prey, Capelin (Mallotus villosus, O. F. Müller, 1776) (Piatt 1990). This association was scale dependent, being strongest at ca. 2.5 km, suggesting imperfect tracking of prey by the seabirds, and the apparent preferred densities of prey differed between the murres and puffins (Piatt 1990). The stability of patches over time is also dependent on spatial scale, with productive patches stable at larger (10 - 100 km) scales but ephemeral at fine scales (Weimerskirch 2007). Stable oceanographic fronts may provide reliable areas of high primary productivity at large scales, so be areas of predictably high prey abundance which seabird foraging may be associated with during both breeding (Scales et al. 2014a, b) and migration (Mcknight et al. 2013). A striking example of this are Manx Shearwater breeding at four islands separated by 100s km along the western British Isles but all foraging at the Irish Sea Front (Dean et al. 2015). This is a productive marine area (Dickey-Collas et al. 1997) ranging from 120 - 375 km distant from the breeding colonies, yet visited on over 50% of long (>200 km) trips across all four shearwater colonies.

The temporal and spatial structure of foraging patches is a key determinant of to what extent predators can track their prey resources, and thus match their foraging distribution to that of their prey (McNamara and Houston 1985, Bernstein et al. 1991). Learning about the distribution of prey across years (at larger scales), and at small scales across hours or days may help seabirds track their prey distribution (see: 'Competing to feed: individuals').

Central-place foraging: Where to breed and feed?

Early models of optimal foraging assumed that animals were free to move anywhere across the environment, the 'free' in the IFD model (Fretwell and Lucas 1969). However, during breeding, seabirds are certainly not 'free' to move anywhere, for they must return to their colony to incubate their clutch, to brood, or to feed their chicks. This situation is a classic example of *central-place foraging* (CPF), where an animal is tied to a central-place, here the colony, to which it must return between bouts of foraging activity (Orians and Pearson 1979). CPF theory has been developed in two directions to look at: where the animal should locate its central-place; and where and how it should optimise its foraging from that place (Orians and Pearson 1979). The first question is relevant to where seabird colonies are located, where the options are often very restricted in the marine environment, with seabird colonies usually either

on relatively inaccessible stretches of mainland coastline (e.g. steep cliffs, Fig. 1.), or offshore islands (see 'Coloniality in seabirds'). The second question focusses on all the aspects above ('Optimal-foraging theory'), plus how prey are brought back to the brood, how frequently the brood must be fed, and the balance between parental (i.e. self-) and chick-provisioning.

Where to breed?

Where should a seabird breed? For colonially breeding seabirds, there are two components to this question, firstly where and how are seabird colonies initially established, and secondly how do seabirds disperse between colonies? Seabirds are generally highly philopatric (Gaston 2004), usually returning to breed in the same colony as where they were born, and rarely switching between colonies once they have begun breeding. There are exceptions, with gulls and terns apparently more flexible than many other seabird species; for instance, Caspian Tern are particularly noted for their flexibility in establishing new colonies, with even whole colony abandonment and emigration occurring (Väisänen 1973). Understanding how seabird colonies become established is crucial to conservation programmes introducing species to former or new colony sites, so much of our knowledge comes from this application. A key insight of these studies is that social attraction plays a strong role in colony recruitment, so seabird colony restoration projects often use e.g. decoys and tapeplayback of breeding birds (Jones and Kress 2012). Animals may either remain at their natal colony (philopatry), they may disperse before their first breeding attempt (natal dispersal), or they may disperse between breeding seasons (breeding dispersal) (Greenwood 1980).

Earlier studies of seabird dispersal focussed on individually marked birds (i.e. ringed birds) that could be observed across colonies, these studies (12 species across 5 families reviewed along with other bird species in: Clarke et al. 1997) suggest that seabirds follow the generally observed patterns in birds of female biased dispersal (Greenwood 1980, Clarke et al. 1997). The processes by which seabirds move between colonies is still largely unknown, as it is difficult to observe even with tracking devices, unless data can be remotely downloaded. A few detailed studies have been carried out where large numbers of individuals are colour ringed, and re-sighted. European Shags were observed across a large number of neighbouring colonies, showing that 10% of birds dispersed from their natal colony, and that most dispersed shags moved to quite nearby colonies (Barlow et al. 2013).

Tracking technologies, and especially GPS, promise to reveal the processes by which individual birds disperse (Ponchon et al. 2013). For example, following breeding failure Black-legged Kittiwake (*Rissa tridactyla*, L. 1758) make long prospecting trips to visit neighbouring colonies, in contrast to the general pattern for seabirds, males

visited more distant colonies than females (Ponchon et al. 2017). Locating new colonies, and even returning to the natal colony (often following long distance migrations) relies on having well developed navigational abilities (see e.g. Bonadonna et al. 2003, Wiltschko and Wiltschko 2003, Papi 2006, Holland 2014), both with respect to remembering the location of alternative colonies (a 'cognitive map') and of then relocating those colonies through map-and-compass cues (Kramer 1961) (e.g. magnetic compass, olfactory cues). Studies of navigation in seabirds suggest that we should expect olfactory cues to be important, at least in the tube-nosed or Procellariiforme species (Bonadonna et al. 2003, Papi 2006, Nevitt 2008, Gagliardo et al. 2013, Pollonara et al. 2015) and a recent study suggests that this may be true for Laridae too (Wikelski et al. 2015). However, locating new sites need not be an exclusively individual explorative process, as individuals may also learn from others where colonies are though social learning (Evans et al. 2016). These types of processes are used by naïve Cape Gannet individuals to learn of and locate feeding sites from their conspecifics (Thiebault et al. 2014), and we may imagine the reverse of this process allowing individuals at a common foraging site to learn of colony locations by following others returning to their own colonies. Then when at a novel colony, a seabird may assess the colony quality based on the breeding success of current breeders (Boulinier and Danchin 1997, Ponchon et al. 2013). Though tracking studies can indicate that individuals from different colonies use common foraging areas (e.g. Dean et al. 2015), without either tracking many individuals simultaneously, or using video loggers, we cannot directly observe social learning.

Where and how to feed?

Where seabirds should feed will vary by breeding stage, as the constraints placed by CPF differ, with longer foraging trips possible pre-laying and during incubation, then shorter trips during the chick-rearing stage (Cleeland et al. 2014, Quillfeldt et al. 2014). The majority of the albatross and petrel (Procellariformes) species perform a pre-laying exodus, that is a long foraging trip performed during egg building (Warham 1990). This behaviour is commonest in females but often present in males too; in females the role is thought to be to gain the additional nutrition required for egg production; in males to have an energy store to use during the first incubation shift that often lasts several days. These long trips are thought to allow petrels to forage at greater distances from their colonies in areas of high productivity (Warham 1990), which tracking studies now support (Phillips et al. 2006, Guilford et al. 2009).

There is much variation in how chicks are fed across seabirds, with a range from feeding of fully intact prey carried back externally in the bill (e.g. murres and puffins), to partially digested prey carried internally (e.g. most gull species), to the pre-digested prey (stomach oils) of albatrosses and petrels (Gaston 2004). How prey are brought to

the chick places a specific limitation on foraging behaviour; when feeding the brood with fresh prey, or partially digested prey, the potential foraging range will be constrained by the need to minimise food degradation during the return to the colony (Gaston 2004). Stomach oils are thought to have evolved to relax this limitation, thus allowing parents to forage further from the colony (Warham et al. 1976, Roby et al. 1997). In single prey loaders, which carry a single prey item externally in their bill (Fig. 2.) to their chick, parents are particularly constrained, generally their foraging (for chick provisioning) will be ruled by an optimal diet-choice model (Lessells and Stephens 1983), where they cannot opt to catch many small prey but must bring back a single prey item of good quality. This prediction is supported for Common Murre, a single prey loader, which optimise for prey size and quality (Burke and Montevecchi 2009), though will increase provisioning rate (thus frequency of foraging trips) when the quality of available prey is low (Kadin et al. 2016). This contrasts with the related alcid, the Atlantic Puffin, a multi-prey loader, capable of carrying multiple prey in their bills, which compensate, at least partially, for smaller sized prey by carrying more prey (Barrett 2015).

A central fitness trade-off for all animals with multiple breeding episodes is between their current and future reproductive investment, and thus between investment in offspring versus in self-maintenance (Drent and Daan 1980, Ricklefs 1983, Zera and Harshman 2001). Given the typically low fecundity and long life of many seabirds (see 'seabird life-history'), this trade-off is likely to be particularly extreme (Ricklefs 1990). Trade-offs in foraging decisions may be increased further when the nutritional requirements of adults for self-maintenance differ from those of their chicks for growth. Whether chicks and parents have different dietary requirements is unclear; in Common Murre chick growth is more limited by dietary energy content than nutrient composition (Benowitz-Fredericks et al. 2006), while Western Gull (Larus occidentalis, Audubon, 1839) parents switched diet between incubation and chickhatching (Annett and Pierotti 1989) possibly suggesting differing dietary requirements. Support for trade-offs between current and future reproduction are stronger. Under very poor foraging conditions parents may decide to abandon a breeding attempt altogether. Chastel, Weimerskirch & Jouventin (1995) tested this prediction by comparing three sympatrically breeding seabirds: a long-lived species, the Blue Petrel (Halobaena caerulea, Gmelin, JF, 1789); and two shorter lived species, Common Diving Petrel (Pelecanoides urinatrix, Gmelin, JF, 1789) and Slender-billed Prion (Pachyptila belcheri, Mathews, 1912). They found that under years of poor foraging conditions, when the adults' condition (body weight) were low at the start of breeding the long-lived Blue Petrel were likely to abandon breeding, whereas the shorter lived species continued to breed. Thick-billed Murre adults breeding in the Hudson bay, Canada trade-off their own condition with that of their chick (Gaston & Hipfner 2006); in years of poor foraging conditions they reduce chick-provisioning rates, but more they reduce their own condition (their body weight), apparently

offsetting poorer foraging conditions. However, like the Blue Petrel, they appear to have a lower threshold of body weight below which they will cease breeding that season (Gaston & Hipfner 2006).

The dual-foraging strategy of many seabird species may provide a partial resolution of this trade-off. Here, chick-rearing adults have a bimodal distribution of foraging trip ranges (i.e. distance) and durations, with long-trips used more for self-provisioning, and short-trips for chick-provisioning (Weimerskirch et al. 1994). Blue Petrels use a combination of long trips of ca. 7 days duration and short trips of ca. 2 days duration (Chaurand and Weimerskirch 1994, Weimerskirch et al. 2003). During the long trips the petrels gain weight, then on short trips they appear to use this stored energy, losing weight (Weimerskirch et al. 2003). Further support for the dual-foraging role of the bimodal trip durations are found in a study of Manx Shearwater, when their chicks received supplementary feeding, the parents performed a higher proportion of long trips than usual, presumably because of the relaxed need for chick-provisioning (Hamer et al. 2006). A later GPS tracking study at the same colony suggests that these long trips are used to visit more productive marine areas lying at distance from the colony (Dean et al. 2015), with a similar finding for Cory's Shearwater (Magalhães et al. 2008).

The dual foraging strategy was initially proposed for procellariform species (Weimerskirch et al. 1994) mostly performing multiday trips, with the short trips <4 days, and the long trips of >5 days. However, this general strategy likely also operates for species with much shorter trips, which there is some support for amongst the auk species. Little Auks (*Alle alle, L., 1758*) perform both short (ca. 2 h) and long (ca. 10-17 h) trips, which appear to fit with a dual foraging strategy (Welcker Jorg et al. 2009), with long trips allowing exploitation of productive distant foraging grounds (Jakubas et al. 2016). Thick-billed Murre in the NE Pacific breeding at three different colonies (Harding et al. 2013) may be more able to reduce the conflict between self-and chick-provisioning than in the Hudson Bay area cited above (Gaston and Hipfner 2006). At all the colonies adults perform relatively short daytime trips in the vicinity of their colony, but also make longer overnight trips in which they visit more productive shelf-break waters (Harding et al. 2013).

Ashmole's halo

There are few formal tests of optimal foraging theory in seabirds, but one key prediction which has been tested is 'Ashmole's halo'. Ashmole (1963) proposed that because breeding seabirds will preferentially forage close to their colony, minimising travel costs, they will deplete prey close to the colony more than that further away, this idea is now termed 'Ashmole's halo'. The idea predated much of the development of CPF ideas, yet the essential predictions and theory are the same. Ashmole (1963)

suggested that the limited foraging range during breeding limits colony sizes by introducing a density dependent process for foraging during breeding. Though the theory is now half a century old, it is only recently that really firm progress has been made in empirically testing it. There are two approaches to testing the prediction, either to compare various foraging and breeding parameters across seabird colonies of different sizes, or to relate foraging parameters and prey quality or quantity to the distance from a single seabird colony (Gaston et al. 2007).

Following the first approach, the rate of colony growth in Northern Gannets (Morus bassanus, L., 1758) was shown to be inversely proportional to their colony size (Lewis et al. 2001), with GPS tracking across colonies later showing that the likely mechanism for this was density dependent competition during foraging (Wakefield et al. 2013). Similarly, in Adelie Penguins (Pygoscelis adeliae, Hombron & Jacquinot, 1841) foraging trip duration and individual metabolic rates positively correlate with colony size (Ballance et al. 2009), and at the largest colonies the energy gained during foraging does not compensate for that expended during foraging (Ballance et al. 2009). Potentially Ashmole's halo should be more pronounced and clearer in isolated oceanic islands away from productive continental shelf-waters, where prey may be depleted more rapidly: Masked Booby (Sula dactylatra, Lesson, R, 1831) foraging trips were tracked with GPS during both chick-rearing and incubation at Ascension and St Helena, two South Atlantic islands with very contrasting seabird population sizes (Oppel et al. 2015). Boobies from the larger of the two colonies performed much longer duration trips to greater distances than those from the smaller colony, and they also made more overnight trips at the large colony, potentially suggesting a compensatory dual-foraging strategy (see 'Where and how to feed', above). Further, a recent meta-analysis related species specific maximum foraging ranges to the population size of seabird colonies for 43 species and 28,263 colonies (Jovani et al. 2016). A strong correlation between the maximum species specific colony size and the species specific maximum foraging range was found, suggesting that those species that can exploit a larger foraging area during breeding can attain a larger maximum colony size; though there was a weaker relationship for median species colony size.

Gaston, Ydenberg & Smith (2007) suggest that the theory of Ashmole's halo could be most effectively tested through detailed studies within seabird colonies. So far there have been few studies following this second approach. One of the first studies to do this (predating that paper) compared fish abundance in bays nearby and further away from two Double-crested Cormorant (*Phalacrocorax auritus*, Lesson, R, 1831) colonies (Birt et al. 1987), finding that those bays within the cormorants' foraging ranges had significantly lower abundances of fish than those outside their foraging ranges. Similarly, the energy content of fish brought back to chicks by Thick-billed Murre parents were found to be proportional the square-root of the foraging distance (suggesting a relationship with available foraging area), implying that larger and higher quality prey were increasingly depleted closer to the colony (Elliott et al. 2009). However, this correlational result could likely be more parsimoniously explained by murres being more selective of prey when foraging at greater distances, as optimal foraging models predict (Lessells and Stephens 1983). A recent study correlated maximum individual foraging ranges with the fluctuating population size of a single colony of European Shag (*Phalacrocorax aristotelis*, L. 1761) across several years (Bogdanova et al. 2014). This study found that foraging ranges were greater in years when the breeding population was higher, and further that this relationship only held under years of low breeding success, thus suggesting a density dependent mechanism. Under years of high breeding success the shags are presumably less limited by prey availability thus do not need to travel so far to forage.

There is then support for the Ashmole's halo hypothesis, but really detailed studies looking at trade-offs between foraging close and far from seabird colonies are lacking. Studies of this type are likely to be most able to explain the underlying behavioural ecology behind the patterns observed in the studies cited. Integrating together the ideas of the dual-foraging strategy (Weimerskirch et al. 1994) with those of Ashmole's halo (Ashmole 1963) and placing these in a wider optimal foraging theoretic context could be a productive avenue to furthering our understanding of generalities in the foraging ecology of seabirds.

Competition for food: populations and species

The maintenance of biological diversity and how apparently similar species may live in sympatry is a recurring question of biology (Gause 1934, Hutchinson 1959, Macarthur 1965), and is a key topic of interest to seabird ecologists in understanding how different species can co-exist on a common prey base, or how large populations of several species of seabird can breed on a common island.

The classic theory for species coexistence at the same trophic level (a species community or guild) in a common environment is that of niche partitioning (Gause 1934, Hutchinson 1957). This, usually applied at the species level as the *fundamental niche*. That is the set of environmental conditions under which the mean fitness of individuals in a population will be unity or more; *i.e.* that the population will be stable or increasing (Holt and Gaines 1992). In the simplest form species are separated ecologically along a single axis of variation (or a single dimension) such as diet. However, in reality, niche space is multi-dimensional, with many different axes of variation contributing to niche separation between species, a concept introduced by Hutchinson (1957) as an n-dimensional *hypervolume*, each dimension some measure of the environment.

Seabirds as colonially living species forming dense breeding aggregations with common foraging grounds were of interest already in the earliest works on niche partitioning between species. Gause (1934, pp. 19-20), in his seminal work, cited (unpubl. study by A. N. Formosov) the example of four sympatrically breeding tern species on a Black Sea island. Already at that time Gause had a good idea of how they partitioned resources amongst themselves according to their foraging behaviour, habitats, and prey:

"...there is a sharp difference between them [the four tern species], for every species pursues a definite kind of animal in perfectly definite conditions. Thus the sandwichtern [*Thalasseus sandvicensis*, Latham, 1787] flies out into the open sea to hunt certain species of fish. The blackbeak-tern [Gull-billed Tern, *Gelochelidon nilotica*, Gmelin, JF, 1789] feeds exclusively on land, and it can be met in the steppe at a great distance from the sea-shore, where it destroys locusts and lizards. The common-tern [*Sterna hirundo*, L. 1758] and the little-tern [*Sternula albifrons* (Pallas, 1764)] catch fish not far from the shore, sighting them while flying and then falling upon the water and plunging to a small depth. The light little-tern seizes the fish in shallow swampy places, whereas the common-tern hunts somewhat further from the shore. In this manner these four similar species of tern living side by side upon a single small island differ sharply in all their modes of feeding and procuring food."

Most simply different predatory seabird species may be expected to feed on different prey species, thus partitioning the environment between them by dietary specialization. This is supported by stable isotope studies, giving indirect measures of diet (Young et al. 2010, Navarro et al. 2013, Linnebjerg et al. 2013, Kokubun et al. 2015), and the level of dietary niche partitioning between species may differ between years according to prey availability (Barger and Kitaysky 2012, Moreno et al. 2016). However, many studies have also found broadly overlapping diets amongst sympatric species (Shealer 2001). An early study of eight seabird species on an equatorial Pacific island (Ashmole and Ashmole 1967) concluded (similarly to Gause, above):

"...coexistence [between species] ... depends mainly on differences in feeding methods, feeding zones and feeding times."

Similar findings were made for sympatric auks (Alcidae) (Cody 1973) interpreted to segregate foraging spatially, though subsequently suggested to relate more to other differences in foraging methods (e.g. diving depths, and bill morphology) (Bédard 1976). Further a study comparing the diets of six species during chick-rearing on a sub-Antarctic island in the South Atlantic (Croxall et al. 1997) found all but one species to feed primarily on Antarctic Krill (*Euphausia superba*, Dana, 1850), there the niche partitioning between the seabird species mostly operated on the different sizes and states (sex and reproductive status) of the krill taken and time of foraging.

Perhaps this overlap of prey species between seabird species should not be a surprise, for in many areas one or more highly abundant prey fish, known as forage fish, predominate. These are super-abundant pelagic fish (though the abundant crustacean, krill, are generally included too) on which many different marine predators feed, in many areas representing a high proportion of diet (Pikitch et al. 2014). Thus, declines in forage fish populations resulting from industrial fishing are now a concern for the viability of many seabird populations (Cury et al. 2011).

Across seabirds there are three general foraging guilds according to the where and how they catch their prey. These are: diving (usually offshore), allowing the capture of prey at depth; coastal and inshore foraging, where prey are often abundant and forced to the surface; and pelagic foraging, where large distances are covered allowing foraging on quite dispersed prey (Shealer 2001). A fourth potential strategy is of kleptoparisitism, the taking of prey from other predators. This strategy may be favoured by predators unable to exploit prey distributed at depth (i.e. by diving); kleptoparisitizing seabird species in the Peruvian coastal system usually parasitize seabirds performing deeper dives than themselves (Duffy 1980). These different strategies represent one level of foraging specialism across seabirds.

Two extremes from generalism to specialism are represented by the larger gull species (*Larus spp.*) and murres (*Uria spp.*), respectively. Large gulls often forage on both marine and terrestrial food sources (Götmark 1984, Yoda et al. 2012, Camphuysen et al. 2015), and as opportunists also exploit anthropogenic sources of food, especially from refuse dumps (Duhem et al. 2008) and fisheries discards (Cama et al. 2012, Tyson et al. 2015). Murres conversely have evolved a highly specialized foraging ecology, catching prey deep in the water column (Croll et al. 1992). This specialization for diving is illustrated by sympatric Common Murre performing deeper dives and generally using less flight during foraging trips than the similarly sized Razorbill (*Alca torda*, L., 1758) which has a relatively lower wing-loading (Thaxter et al. 2010, Linnebjerg et al. 2013).

Competition for food: individuals

A broad species niche may arise either from all individuals within a population being generalists, or from specialist individuals with different narrower niches, such that these individual niches sum to a broad population level niche (Bolnick et al. 2003, Bearhop et al. 2004). For example, Green Turtle (*Chelonia mydas*, L., 1758) show consistent individual specialization over time, though the population level niche is broad because individuals specialize on different habitats with different associated diets (Vander Zanden et al. 2013).

Many seabird species have sex differences in foraging behaviour or diet, including: Common Murre (Thaxter et al. 2009), Audouin's Gull (*Ichthyaetus audouinii*, Payraudeau, 1826) (García-Tarrasón et al. 2015), Northern Gannet (Stauss et al. 2012), and Wandering Albatross (Weimerskirch et al. 2014). These differences may result for a variety of reasons: morphological differences (probably a proximate reason) between sexes in e.g. bill shape (Navarro et al. 2009) or wing area and shape (Wakefield et al. 2009b); sex specific nutritional requirements such as for eggproducing females (Blount et al. 2004, Sorensen et al. 2009); or risk partitioning, whereby within breeding pairs those where the male and female have different foraging strategies have higher breeding success (Elliott et al. 2010).



Fig. 4. Black-browed albatross (immature) (Photo: Tom Evans/CC BY-NC 4.0)

Individual specialization is linked to the related concepts of individual repeatability (Bell et al. 2009), consistency (Bolnick et al. 2003, Patrick and Weimerskirch 2014), and personality (Dall and Griffith 2014), and this may have considerable implications for how individuals forage (Spiegel et al. 2017). Individual specialization is now
thought to be widespread across seabird species (Ceia and Ramos 2015), though the level of specialization may vary within a population (Ceia et al. 2012, Patrick and Weimerskirch 2014). How differences in levels of foraging specialization within seabird populations are linked with fitness, thus maintained in a population is currently unclear. In Black-browed Albatross (Fig. 4., Thalassarche melanophris, Temminck, 1828), the more specialist individuals (those consistent in habitat and site use) have comparatively higher breeding success than more generalist individuals within a year (Patrick and Weimerskirch 2014). Herring gulls, despite being generalists as a species, show individual specialization in diet and foraging site use (Davis 1975, Pierotti and Annett 1987, Tyson et al. 2015). For these gulls, dietary specialization per se was not linked to increased reproductive success, but individuals that specialize on better quality prey do achieve larger clutch sizes (Pierotti and Annett 1987). Most studies of individual specialization have been restricted to a single breeding season, showing short-term consistency only (Ceia and Ramos 2015). Recently though Northern Gannets have been shown to be consistent in their use of specific foraging areas both within and across years, and this appears to be driven by dietary specialization based on consistent individual stable isotope profiles across years (Wakefield et al. 2015), and an earlier study using only stable isotopes suggested a similar pattern in Wandering Albatross (Ceia et al. 2012).

We will gain increased understanding of how individuals within and between species partition their foraging behaviour as more tracking studies are performed and more detailed analyses are made of these data. A recent study following this approach found differences in foraging strategies through GPS tracking of two sympatric albatross species, finding different strategies within (largely sex-based) and between the species (Conners et al. 2015). Individual movement strategies are also likely to shape what information they use in their foraging (Spiegel et al. 2017), when repeatedly using the same foraging sites they likely rely more strongly on their own information (memory), whereas if visiting new foraging sites they may follow conspecifics or other individuals learning of new foraging sites (Thiebault et al. 2014, Evans et al. 2016).

Diving and flight

The extreme mobility of seabirds below and above water is a large determinant of their foraging ecology. Some species cross vast distances at low cost by dynamic soaring (Weimerskirch et al. 2000), others dive to >500 m (Wienecke et al. 2007), while still others can dive >200 m yet can still fly (Croll et al. 1992)! These abilities allow them to exploit a large part of the World's oceans. Though diving and flight operate in different fluids (water and air, respectively), birds experience some of the same challenges in both environments, with their movement a function of both their

own locomotion, and of the fluid's movement (winds and currents) (Chapman et al. 2011). Though it may seem tough to move through the water fluid, diving has a lower cost of transport than flight (Ellis and Gabrielsen 2001), though clearly flight can be considerably quicker.

The cost of flight varies with airspeed, the speed the bird moves relative to the air around it, rather than to the ground. The specific airspeed optima for a bird is predicted by the flight power-curve (Hedenström and Alerstam 1995, Pennycuick 2008) from which two optimal speeds are obtained, the minimum power speed (*Vmp*) where the instantaneous rate of energy expenditure is minimised, and the maximum range speed (*Vmr*) where the cost of travel per unit distance is minimised. *Vmp* is unaffected by wind, but if a bird flies at its *Vmr* speed, then it should alter its airspeed depending on wind conditions experienced. Under tailwinds *Vmr* is reduced, whereas under headwinds *Vmr* increases (Pennycuick 1978), likewise *Vmr* is affected by cross-winds, with it increased as cross-wind speed increases (Liechti et al. 1994).

Wind may also influence how high birds fly, for at low altitude wind speed decreases rapidly as the sea-surface is approached due to the air being decelerated by friction with the water surface (Geiger et al. 2009). Soaring seabirds exploit this vertical wind speed gradient using dynamic soaring (Rayleigh 1883, Weimerskirch et al. 2000), whereas flapping seabirds may be expected to adjust their altitude depending on the wind direction, if beneficial they may fly higher, yet if a hindrance they may fly closer to the sea-surface.

Costs of both diving and flight are largely determined by drag forces and wingloading, thus anything that changes the profile of a bird may increase the cost of transport through increased drag, or any increased load will increase wing-loading. These factors are of special relevance to how biologging devices are designed and deployed on birds (Bowlin et al. 2010, Vandenabeele et al. 2012, Pennycuick et al. 2012). The amount of drag is mostly a function of the device frontal cross-sectional area, but is also influenced by shape. External antennas potentially increase drag forces dramatically during both swimming and flight (Wilson et al. 2004, Pennycuick et al. 2012), while using a tear drop shape can reduce drag for a given cross-sectional area (Todd Jones et al. 2013).

The biologging revolution

That Wisdom is now 66 years old (see Seabird life-history, Fig. 3) we know thanks to researchers uniquely marking her with a ring on her leg in 1956. That same year, in Sweden the Nobel Prize in Physics was awarded for the development of the transistor (Nobel Media AB 2015). Two apparently unlinked events, yet the second would go

on to transform seabird research. Much has been learned by the detailed observation of seabirds during breeding, especially when paired with individually marked birds, such as Wisdom. However, how she and other seabirds like herself survive and successfully bring back food to rear their chicks was largely unknown before we could follow their lives at sea. This all changed when the promise of the transistor came of age, as millions of transistors were sent out to Space on satellites beaming signals back to the hundreds of GPS tags sent out to sea on the backs of seabirds.

Many seabird species dive to catch their prey underwater, and it was this vertical dimension that biologging devices first revealed. To study these movements we use time-depth recorders (TDRs), these record water pressure over time, with depth obtained from the pressure reading. Before the development of miniature electronic TDRs, dive data were obtained through a number of techniques. Common Murre dive times and durations were recorded by breaks in the VHF signal from bird-borne radio-tags (Wanless et al. 1988), or without electronics at all, maximum dive depths were recorded using capillary tubes dusted inside with a soluble indicator such as icing sugar (Burger and Wilson 1988). One of the earliest seabird TDR studies (Huin and Prince 1997) looked at dives made during foraging trips by Grey-headed Albatross (*Thalassarche chrysostoma*, Forster, JR, 1785) using TDRs originally developed for marine mammal research. The TDRs revealed that the albatrosses were most active midday and at dusk.

Individual movements of seabirds at sea were first recorded using platform transmitter terminals (PTTs), these devices transmit a radio-signal which is then picked up by satellites, using the Doppler effect allows the inference of location. Early studies showed that seabirds foraged at greater distances from their colonies than previously expected. King Penguin (*Aptenodytes patagonicus*, Miller, JF, 1778) travelled ca. 500 km, allowing them to forage on productive waters at the polar front (Jouventin et al. 1994), whilst Wandering Albatross travelled up to 15,000 km in a single foraging trip, and were more nocturnally active on nights around the full-moon (Jouventin and Weimerskirch 1990).

For most seabirds the long-term attachment of back-mounted tags, such as PTTs or GPS (below) is not feasible. Long term attachment by taping to feathers is not possible because of moult, and most seabirds appear to be disturbed by harnesses (Phillips et al. 2003), with the exception of gulls (Thaxter et al. 2014). Light-level geolocators (GLS) have revolutionised studies of migration in seabirds, for these simple devices are small enough to be attached to a leg-ring. These were first developed and used to study Northern Elephant Seals (*Mirounga angustirostris*, Gill, 1866) during their migrations (Delong et al. 1992). GLS record light-level at a regular interval using an accurate internal clock, from which the time of sunrise and sunset can be inferred. As day-length changes with latitude, and the time of sunrise and sunset change with longitude, it is possible to estimate a geographic position (Hill

1994). One of the earliest seabird studies revealed that Grey-headed Albatross circumnavigate the Antarctic continent during their migration (Croxall et al. 2005). By now the miniaturisation of GLS tags allows the tracking of even the smallest of seabird species. A <1g GLS was used to track the ca. 45 g Leach's Storm Petrel (*Oceanodroma leucorhoa*, Vieillot, 1818) from its breeding grounds in Nova Scotia, Canada, to its wintering area off the coast of Brazil (Pollet et al. 2014).

In the late 1990s the first GPS tracks were obtained from wildlife, first Moose (*Alces alces*, L., 1758) (Edenius 1997) and African Elephant (*Loxodonta africana*, Blumenbach, 1797) (Douglas-Hamilton 1998), then a few years later the largest seabirds, Wandering Albatross were tracked with 105 g devices (Weimerskirch et al. 2002). GPS works by a network of satellites transmitting down radio signals, which the GPS unit receives, using signals from multiple satellites allows highly accurate positions, accurate to within a few metres. Today we can study the majority of seabird species with GPS, thanks to the continued miniaturisation of the technology.

Future developments in biologging are largely focussed on either gaining information about behaviour or the environment through which the animal moves, data which can complement the positional data. Bird-borne cameras are revealing novel behaviours, such as Thick-billed Murre foraging on fish associated with jellyfish (Sato et al. 2015), or how juvenile seabirds may follow experienced adults to foraging sites (Yoda et al. 2011). Accelerometers give detailed information on body movement, which may be used to infer energy usage (Amélineau et al. 2014) or classify whether birds are using soaring or flapping flight (Berlincourt et al. 2015, Shamoun-Baranes et al. 2016).

Movement ecology, using biologging to inform ecology

Nearly all processes in ecology have a spatial element, and this is certainly the case for seabirds, which must decide where to breed, and daily must decide where to feed (see 'Central-place foraging', above). These decisions are in turn made based on the external environment: Where is there a suitable island or sheltered cliff? Where are the easiest fish to catch? Can it fly against such a strong headwind? But also, on the bird's internal state: Is it ready to breed? How are its energy stores? This broad way of considering how the movement decisions of a seabird are made up of a number of intricately linked, yet distinct components: its internal state, its motivation, and of the external environmental conditions: is unified under the term *movement ecology* (Nathan et al. 2008). The explosion of animal tracking data (Hussey et al. 2015) offers the potential to open up new avenues in ecology, but to do so requires careful consideration of the research questions to be asked (Jeltsch et al. 2013, Börger 2016)

and perhaps especially in this data rich field, analytical approaches able to make sense of such complex data (Demšar et al. 2015).

In seabirds individuals' foraging decisions are made at different levels, from the decision of when to initiate a foraging trip, on where to go, then on when to stay within a foraging patch and when to move on in search of a better patch. Therefore, the analysis of seabird tracking data must be connected with environmental data which is of an appropriate spatiotemporal scale to address the scale at which a movement decision is made (Wakefield et al. 2009a). An aspect of temporal scale is predictability and persistence of foraging patches and conditions (Mueller and Fagan 2008). Under more predictable environments we may expect seabirds to rely mostly on previously acquired knowledge of their local area, whereas at intermediate levels seabirds may benefit from following conspecifics which have recent knowledge of foraging conditions, then when resources become highly unpredictable more random search strategies are likely favoured (Spiegel et al. 2017).

Thesis aims

The movement ecology of diving and flying guillemots and gulls during breeding

The aim of this thesis was to investigate the movement ecology of seabirds, focussing on their general patterns of foraging activity, on how this activity is shaped spatiotemporally across scales, and how they vary their foraging behaviour in response to their environment: spatially (e.g. habitat), and temporally (e.g. influence of weather). This context is further used to gain more general insights into how birds use their environments, looking at how they vary their flight behaviour and how they explore their environments. Fives species are followed, four of the more closely related con-generic gulls (*Larus* spp.) and one auk species, the Common Murre. These breeding at two field sites in the Baltic Sea.

Before summarising the findings from these studies I must introduce our cast, the study species, our scenes, the two study sites, and our props, the electronic devices which will tell use so much about the movement ecology of these seabirds.

Methods

Study sites

The studies took place at two of the most important seabird breeding sites in Sweden, both located in the Baltic Sea (Fig. 6.). The Baltic Sea is a 'mediterranean sea' (in the oceanographic sense), being nearly completely enclosed with limited exchange of water between it and the nearby North Sea. This leads to an unusual brackish marine environment with water of progressively lower salinity going north, and also very steep gradients both horizontally and vertically in nutrients, oxygen levels, salinity, temperature, and pH (Leppäranta and Myrberg 2008). The physical oceanography is now quite well understood (Omstedt et al. 2014), and increasingly how this connects with the ecosystem too. During the 1980s, the Baltic Sea underwent an ecological regime shift from a top-down regulated system, with high populations of Atlantic Cod (Gadus morhua, L., 1758) and lower densities of clupeid species; European Sprat and Baltic Herring (Clupea harengus membras, Wulf, 1765); to a bottom-up regulated system of abundant sprat and herring, but low cod numbers (Möllmann et al. 2009). This followed from an earlier regime shift from a seal dominated system at the beginning of the 20th century (Österblom et al. 2007). The regime shift from cod to clupeids was driven by a combination of overfishing of cod and environmental changes (Casini et al. 2008, Möllmann et al. 2009) with complex interactions with human drivers (socio-economic) in the system (Lade et al. 2015). As clupeid abundance increased, following predatory release, there was greater competition for zooplankton, thus clupeid condition declined (Casini et al. 2011).

The island of Stora Karlsö

Every year during April to July, thousands of seabirds congregate on the Karlsö islands. Stora Karlsö and Lilla Karlsö together represent one of the principle seabird breeding sites of the Baltic Sea, thus are listed as Important Bird and Biodiversity Area and Natura 2000 sites (Birdlife International 2015a, Natura-2000 2015). My research took place on the larger island of Stora Karlsö, Gotland, Sweden (57.28° N, 17.97° E) a small island (2.5 km²) lying 7 km to the west of the larger island of Gotland in the central Baltic Sea (Fig. 6.). At Stora Karlsö there are large breeding

populations of Common Murre, Razorbill (*Alca torda*, L., 1758), Great Cormorant (*Phalacrocorax carbo*, L., 1758), European Herring Gull, Arctic Tern (*Sterna paradisaea*, Pontoppidan, 1763), and Lesser Black-backed Gull, with smaller numbers of other species (Hentati-Sundberg et al. 2012, Hermansson and Wizèn 2014).

Stora Karlsö hosts the Auk Lab, a unique research platform; this is an artificial nesting cliff primarily developed for Common Murres, but also used by Razorbills (Hentati-Sundberg et al. 2012). It is constructed of a steel frame enclosed by oak wood with limestone slabs or shelves on the outside where the auks breed. Effectively the structure acts as an artificial cliff, with researchers able to walk through the structure 'behind' the cliff face. The Auk Lab construction (Fig. 5.) was completed in 2008, however, as it takes time for murres to recruit into a colony (Parker et al. 2007), the artificial ledges has been gradually occupied over time. This study makes use of a raised floor at the base of the structure, below which is a natural rock ledge with ca. 100 established pairs of Common Murre. Through trap-doors in the raised floor these birds could be accessed (Fig. 5.).

For the generalist foraging gulls breeding on Stora Karlsö, the large (>3,000 km²) nearby island of Gotland provides potential terrestrial foraging habitat. There is an agricultural area on the nearer part of Gotland to Stora Karlsö, with arable fields where gulls may feed on earthworms and other invertebrates. In contrast to many other studies of gulls, there are no nearby open refuse sites.

The Björn Archipelago at Fågelsundet

The Björn Archipelago at Fågelsundet, is located on the east coast of Sweden (17.72° E, 60.63° N, Fig. 6), in the northern part of the Baltic Sea and south-eastern area of the Gulf of Bothnia. Here several seabird species breed across numerous small skerries and a few islands, the whole area is ca. 5x5 km, though we only worked in the north-western part, over a few skerries spread <1.5 km apart. In the archipelago breed the following gull species (preceded by mean numbers of pairs for 2010-2014): 222 Herring — (Larus argentatus, Pontoppidan, 1763), 184 Lesser Black-backed — (Larus fuscus, L. 1758), 25 Great Black-backed — (Larus marinus, L. 1758), 737 Black-headed — (Chroicocephalus ridibundus, L. 1766), and 381 Mew Gull (Larus canus, L, 1758). There are also significant of terns; 86 Caspian Tern (Hydroprogne caspia, Pallas, 1770), 403 Common Tern (Sterna hirundo, L. 1758), and 582 Arctic Tern (Sterna paradisaea, Pontoppidan, 1763), along with waterfowl species (U. Lötberg, unpublished data, BirdLife International, 2017). The Lesser Black-backed Gull are of the nominate sub-species (L. fuscus fuscus, L. 1758), which breed predominantly in the Baltic Sea. Numbers of each breeding species have fluctuated over the last two decades, and breeding success is variously impacted by predation by



Fig. 5. The Auk Lab at Stora Karlsö with inset photos of the author using a noose-pole to recapture a Common Murre with a GPS through a trap-door in the floor (main photo: Tom Evans, inset photos ©Aron Hejdström)

introduced American Mink (*Mustela vison*, Schreber, 1777), the larger gull species (Herring and Great Black-backed gulls), and more recently by White-Tailed Eagle (*Haliaeetus albicilla*, L. 1758; U. Lötberg, unpublished data). The mink have been controlled in the archipelago for more than 15 years resulting in increasing numbers of breeding seabirds with especially positive trends for lesser black-backed gulls (Roos and Amcoff 2010).

The birds studied were on archipelago islands/skerries ca. 2.5 km from the closest part of the mainland (Fig. 6B). Across the area a range of potential foraging habitat for generalist gull species. The mainland area is composed of mixed land use, with coniferous forest predominating, some areas of arable fields, and small towns and villages. Further afield are a couple of larger urban areas (cities Gävle and Uppsala, respectively 40 and 85 km distant). Across the area are several landfill/waste management centres. The marine area is composed of shallow coastal waters (mostly 1-20 m deep) around the archipelago and along the mainland coastline, with deeper offshore waters (20-50 m), around 10 km out from the coast with some shallow reefs.

Study species

Five species of seabird are studied in this thesis, with two contributing to the majority of the studies (Common Murre and Lesser Black-backed Gull), and three further species included in one study (Mew Gull, Herring Gull, and Great Black-backed Gull). Here I will give a more detailed account for the first two species, and a shorter accounts for the three other gull species.

Common Murre

Common Murre (Fig. 2, *Uria aalge*, Pontoppidan, 1763) are a medium sized alcid seabird (typically 800 – 1000 g). They have a circumpolar distribution, being present in the boreal to low-Arctic regions of the North Atlantic and Pacific oceans. The species has a large global population of ca. 18 million individuals, with an IUCN Red List classification of least concern (Birdlife International 2015b). However, in Europe there have been steep population declines over the last 20 years, leading to a European Red List classification of near threatened (BirdLife International 2015). Common Murres, along with the congeneric Thick-billed Murre (*Uria lomvia*, L., 1758), have become *de facto* model species in seabird biology, with over 1000 publications on the two species to date (search in Zoological record on 2017-02-23: 'TS = "uria aalge" OR TS = "uria lomvia", Timespan: All years'. Returned 1,360 results). This provides

a rich context of previous work within which to research the species and test more general theories.



Fig. 6. Location of study sites A. Large scale map showing location of both study colonies (diamonds). B & C, small scale maps of immediate area of Björn Archipelago at Fågelsundet (B) and Stora Karlsö (C)

Common Murre feed primarily on fish, which they catch by pursuit diving (Bradsheet and Brown 1985). The main prey species of the murres throughout their range are forage fish, especially clupeid species (Clupeidae, G. Cuvier, 1817) and sand lance (or sandeel, Ammodytidae, Bonaparte, 1832), plus also the youngest age classes of larger species, such as gadids (Gadidae, Rafinesque, 1810) (Buren et al. 2012, Kadin et al. 2012, Erikstad et al. 2013, Anderson et al. 2014, Gladics et al. 2015). At the study colony of Stora Karlsö clupeids are common and especially European Sprat (*Sprattus sprattus*, L., 1758) (Kadin et al. 2012). Common Murres have very high

wing loading and relatively low aspect ratio wings, higher than the congeneric Thickbilled Murre (Kokubun et al. 2015), limiting them to almost exclusively flapping flight (not flap-gliding) (Pennycuick 1987). This flight style leading from their adaptation for wing-propelled diving (Watanuki et al. 2006, Elliott et al. 2013) allowing foraging at depths >100 m (Fort et al. 2013) and apparently swimming at relatively high speeds for their body mass (Watanuki et al. 2006), potentially to avoid dramatically increased drag at lower swim speeds (Watanabe et al. 2011).

Common Murres are socially monogamous and form multi-year pair bonds, with the pair occupying the same spot usually on a rocky ledge or plateau, where they lay their egg and rear the chick, this forms the smallest territory of any bird, being not much larger than a single adult murre (Harris and Birkhead 1985)! The female produces a single egg, with both parents active in incubation and chick-rearing, throughout this period the egg then chick are constantly attended (Harris and Birkhead 1985), except under extremely poor environmental conditions (Ashbrook et al. 2008). Murres are single-prey loaders, provisioning the chick by returning from foraging trips with a single fish held length-ways in their bill (Fig. 2.) (Bradsheet and Brown 1985). This provisioning style likely limits their ability to increase the rate of chick-feeding as the chick grows. Thus leading to murres' semi-precocial breeding strategy, where the chick leaves the colony while still flightless at around one third of adult weight at ca. 20 days of age, when it is attended by the male parent for a couple of months at sea (Birkhead 1977). During the winter period murres will usually move offshore to more productive marine areas, the male migrates with its chick (Birkhead 1977, Olsson et al. 1999), thus is limited to a swimming migration, whereas the female can fly. They then undergo their primary moult, during which they are flightless for a period. Common Murres typically migrate shorter distances than Thick-billed Murre, up to ca. 1000 km (Fort et al. 2013, McFarlane Tranquilla et al. 2014), with timing and destination areas consistent across years within individuals (McFarlane Tranquilla et al. 2014).

Lesser Black-backed Gull

The Lesser Black-backed Gull (*Larus fuscus*, L., 1758) is a relatively large gull species and are sexually dimorphic in body size, with males (750 – 1000 g) typically slightly larger than females (500 – 850 g) (Olsen and Larsson 2004). The species (*L. fuscus spp.*) has a breeding distribution across northern Europe, from Iceland in the west to the White Sea in the east. Its IUCN Red List status is of *least concern*, both globally (Birdlife International 2012) and regionally on the European list (BirdLife International 2015). However, the nominate sub-species (*L. fuscus*, L., 1758) studied here (Fig. 7) has been under steep decline, thus is classified in Sweden as *endangered* (ArtDatabanken 2015). The species is part of the wider Herring Gull (*Larus argentatus*, Pontoppidan, 1763) species complex. Previously this was given as a classic example of a ring species, as it has a circumpolar distribution, though genetic data now suggests that this is not the case (Liebers et al. 2004, Liebers-Helbig et al. 2010). The primarily Baltic Sea breeding sub-species, *L. f. fuscus*, has genetic support to be considered a sub-species (Liebers and Helbig 2002), with the two more western sister sub-species (*L. f. graellsii*, Brehm, AE, 1857; *L. f. intermedius*, Schiøler, 1922) less clearly separated. This is reflected in the migration of Lesser Black-backed Gulls, which winter in Iberia, north-west Africa, and along the Nile River, south to Lake Victoria in sub-equatorial Africa (Olsen and Larsson 2004). With *L. f. fuscus* mostly in east Africa and further south than *L.f. intermedius* and *L. f. graellsii* which both winter in north-west Africa and the Iberian peninsula (Kylin et al. 2011), and are increasingly resident year-round in north-west Europe (Burton et al. 2013).



Fig. 7. Lesser Black-backed Gull of the 'Baltic' sub-species Larus f. fuscus (Photo: ©Aron Hejdström)

Lesser Black-backed Gulls are colonial breeders, typically breeding in open and flat areas between vegetation, which provides shelter (Kim and Monaghan 2005, Ross-Smith et al. 2015). They breed at a much lower density than Common Murres (above), but nests are clustered within a colony (Davis and Dunn 1976, Götmark 1982). They form socially monogamous pairs, and have biparental care, with both sexes incubating and then feeding the chicks. Females lay a clutch of usually 3 eggs, though it is rare for all eggs to hatch and for all chicks to reach fledging (Harris 1964, Brown 1967, Ross-Smith et al. 2015).

Typical of other large gull species (genus Larus), Lesser Black-backed Gull are generalist predators, thus use a wide variety of habitats across their annual cycle. *L. f. fuscus*, studied here, uses mostly marine food sources during breeding (Strann and Vader 1992, Kubetzki and Garthe 2003) of which they are thought to be more reliant than other subspecies (*L. f. graeslii, L. f. intermedius*) (Götmark 1984). Gulls are also increasingly using anthropogenic food sources including fisheries discards, refuse dumps, and agricultural land (Duhem et al. 2008, Navarro et al. 2010, Tyson et al. 2015); with potential for conflict with human activities (Ross-Smith et al. 2014). Some species are apparently benefitting from these food sources, though others are not. A decline in the population of Glaucous-winged Gull (*L. glaucescens*, Naumann, JF, 1840) has been attributed to a switch in diet from marine to terrestrial food sources (Blight et al. 2015) while conversely Yellow-legged Gull (*L. michahellis*, Naumann, JF, 1840) have benefited from a greater availability of anthropogenic food sources (Duhem et al. 2008).

In common with their generalist diet, Larus gulls have a flexible flight style, having medium aspect ratio wings, allowing them to use both gliding and flapping flight (Shamoun-Baranes and Loon 2006). At sea larger gull species use primarily flapping flight (Spear and Ainley 1997) as strong rising air conditions (thermals or orographic lift) are rarely available over water.

Gulls at sea mostly forage by either taking prey directly from the surface or through shallow plunge dives (Schwemmer and Garthe 2005), though increasingly they also make use of anthropogenic sources of food, especially from fisheries discards (details above). Gulls may also forage through: commensal foraging where predatory fish drive schools of small fish to the surface, making these available to gulls (Colblentz 1985); or kleptoparasitism of seabird species that are able to access prey beyond the gulls reach (Duffy 1980), such as auks catching fish at great depths then bringing these to the surface.

In Sweden, the total population of lesser black-backed gulls of both *L. f. intermedius* and *L. f. fuscus*, was recently estimated to approximately 18,000 pairs (Ottosson et al. 2012), with the *Larus f. fuscus* sub-species predominantly breeding in the Baltic Sea with an estimated population size of 8,300 (Ottosson et al. 2012).

Mew, Herring, and Great Black-backed gulls

The Mew Gull (or Common Gull, *Larus canus*, L. 1758) is the smallest of the gulls studied herein. They breed throughout northern Europe, Asia, to north-west North

America, though the nominate subspecies (*L. c. canus*, L. 1758) here studied is restricted to the west of this range mostly in Europe (BirdLife International 2016a, Olsen and Larsson 2004). They are not of conservation concern (*least concern*), having a large global population size and distribution (BirdLife International 2016a). They are nationally listed as *least concern* too, but have experienced a decline of 23-40% over the last 30 years (ArtDatabanken 2015). In common with the other *Larus* species, Mew Gull are sexually dimorphic in body size though less so than the other species studied here, the males (328-390 g) larger than the female (322-376 g) (Olsen and Larsson 2004). They are short to medium distance migrants, the Scandanavian breeding population wintering from southern Scandanavia to central France. They mostly forage in estuaries, in the intertidal area, on agricultural fields, and in coastal waters. Terrestrial prey include earthworms, beetles, and some vegetation (grasses and berries), intertidal/estuarine prey include crustaceans, molluscs, and polychaetes, and marine prey, fish (Götmark 1984, Kubetzki and Garthe 2003).

The Herring Gull (Larus argentatus, Pontoppidan, 1763) is intermediate in size between the Lesser Black-backed gull and the Great Black-backed Gull. They breed throughout northern Europe and across to Iceland (BirdLife International 2016b, Olsen and Larsson 2004). Globally they are not currently of conservation concern (*least concern*), having a large global population size, however they are declining but this is thought to be following a larger population size in the mid-20th century with the availability of refuse that is now more restricted in availability (BirdLife International 2016b). However, in Sweden they are listed as threatened, having had a population decline of 20-30% in the last 10 years which is expected to continue; the population in Sweden is of 61,000 pairs, with the majority (>60%) on the east coast (i.e. the Baltic Sea coast) (ArtDatabanken 2015). In common with the other Larus species, Herring Gull are sexually dimorphic in body size, the males (800-1500 g) larger than the female (750-1400 g) (Olsen and Larsson 2004). They are sedentary or short distance migrants, the Baltic Sea breeding population mostly winters along the southern Baltic Sea coasts and into the Kattegat and some in to the North Sea (Olsen and Larsson 2004). Like the Common Gull, they forage in estuaries, in the intertidal area, on agricultural fields, and in coastal waters, but they also forage more on anthropogenic food sources, especially refuse/landfill sites and fisheries discards both at ports and offshore (Götmark 1984, Garthe and Scherp 2003, Kubetzki and Garthe 2003).

The Great Black-backed Gull (*Larus marinus*, L. 1758) is largest of the *Larus* gulls. They breed along coastlines throughout the North Altantic, across north-west Europe, Iceland, southern Greenland, and eastern North America (BirdLife International 2016c, Olsen and Larsson 2004). Globally they have a large population size and are not significantly declining, so are not of conservation concern (*least concern*) (BirdLife International 2016c). In Sweden they are also listed as *least concern*, though the population is thought to have declined dramatically in the last 10 years by up to 50%, though there is much uncertainty in these numbers, thus they may be revised to *near threatened* in the near future (ArtDatabanken 2015). Great Black-backed Gull are the most sexually dimorphic in body size of the species studied herein, the males (1.1-2.2 kg) larger than the female (1.0-2.0 kg) (Olsen and Larsson 2004). They are sedentary or short distance migrants, the Baltic Sea breeding population mostly winters along the southern Baltic Sea coasts and especially the Kattegat and some into the North Sea (Olsen and Larsson 2004) and some migrate as far as southern Britain (author, *unpublished data*). Like the other gulls, they forage on a range of habitats including estuaries, the intertidal area, and in coastal waters, like Herring Gull they also forage on anthropogenic food sources, including refuse/landfill sites and fisheries discards both at ports and offshore, during the breeding period they can eat large numbers of eggs and chicks of other breeding birds (Götmark 1984, Garthe and Scherp 2003).

In the Björn Archipelago area the Herring and Great Black-backed gulls breed earliest, laying from early to mid-May, then the Lesser Black-backed and Mew gulls some two-weeks later from mid- to late-May.

Instrumentation

GPS tracking

Global Positioning System (GPS) tracking provide highly accurate location information, usually with horizontal positional errors <20 m and often <5 m. In addition to recording latitude and longitude, measurements are obtained of instantaneous velocity, heading, and altitude. In my research I have used two types of GPS devices, one a logging device where it is necessary to recapture the birds to recover the data from its tag, the other with short-range wireless radio download.

To study the foraging trips of chick-rearing murres, during June of three years (2009, 2014, & 2015) I tagged the murres with GPS logging devices (i-gotu GT-120 by Mobile Action Technology, Taipei, Taiwan). This GPS (Fig. 8.) is widely used in seabird studies as it is inexpensive and provides between 4-8 days of data depending on the GPS logging interval. The disadvantage is that devices must be retrieved.

For two years (2014 & 2015), plus a small-pilot deployment (2013), I also used UvABiTs GPS tags on some of the Common Murres. These tags provide additional data to the GPS fix, by also giving accelerometry, which can be used to infer wingbeat frequency for example.

From 2011 – 2015 I followed the year round behaviour of Lesser Black-backed Gulls at Stora Karlsö by using GPS tags developed at Amsterdam University, the UvABiTS system (Bouten et al. 2013). These devices are ca. 18 g, are solar-powered and have a short-range communication system. Using a base-station sited near where the gulls nest we were able to download data when they attended the colony, and further we could also change the configuration of the tags remotely. Thus, we could change the GPS schedule depending on the study questions. During 2012-2016, the UvABiTS system was also deployed in the Björn Archipelago, where we following four sympatrically breeding gull species.



Fig. 8. Devices used to follow the movements of Common Murre above and below the water GPS (left), metal ID ring (centre), and TDR together with plastic ring (right) (Photo: Tom Evans/CC BY-NC 4.0)

Time-depth recorders (TDR)

To study the diving activity of chick-rearing Common Murre, I used TDRs (Fig. 8, model LAT 1500, Lotek Wireless, Newmarket, Canada). In addition to recording pressure over time, for detailed dive depth-time profiles, these also record temperature

and wet-dry state, which together allow detailed time-activity budgets to be obtained (Linnebjerg et al. 2014). Combining deployments of TDRs and GPS on the same birds allowed the connection of dive activity with location.

Handling and capture

I studied Common Murre during their breeding period, late April – early July, on Stora Karlsö island. At this time murres regularly attend their breeding ledge for incubation then chick guarding and brooding. For tracking studies I caught murres during chick-rearing, catching them using a noose pole (Fig. 5, constructed of a long 5-10 m fishing rod, with a noose loop of mono-filament nylon fishing-line at the end). Murres were weighed, and various biometric measurements were taken. TDR and GLS devices were attached to plastic leg-rings by cable-ties. GPS devices were attached to the back feathers using several strips of black marine fabric tape.

The gulls were studied using solar-powered remotely downloadable GPS devices (see above). Gulls were caught during incubation at both Stora Karlsö and on the Björn Archipelago islands by use of walk-in cage traps placed over their nests. As these GPS devices are solar-powered they can be deployed over the longer-term, thus harnesses were used for attachment, these were constructed of tubular Teflon[™] ribbon (Bally Ribbon Mills 8476-.25") with a 1 mm braided nylon wader shelf string (British Trust for Ornithology) inserted, used either with a wing- (2011) or body- harness (2012, 2013, 2014) (Thaxter et al. 2014). During handling various biometric measurements were taken, with gulls sexed morphologically (most were also sexed molecularly, below) by the head plus bill measurement (Coulson et al. 1983), using a colony-specific discriminant threshold of 113.5 mm (< female, > males).

The majority of murres and gulls were sexed molecularly (Griffiths et al. 1998) from either blood or feather samples taken at the time of device deployment.

Land based observations

To study how Lesser Black-backed Gulls from Stora Karlsö used land based foraging, observations were made on an area of farmland on Gotland where the GPS data indicated the gulls visited. Ten transects of 300m were set along roadways, with fields bordering each transect surveyed. Transects were selected to include at least one field where gulls were known to have been foraging, either from direct observation (Fig. 9), or where a GPS tracked gull had been present during the preceding period, plus at least one control field where gulls had not been recorded. Fields were surveyed during

June and early July 2013, representing late incubation or early chick-rearing through to late chick-rearing. At each field on several observation occasions we counted the numbers of other bird species present while also quantifying earthworm availability. We walked along a 4x25 m gate transect at a speed of one footstep per second and counted how many earthworms were seen within a 1 m perimeter, similar to the method described in Dänhardt (2009). The vegetation characteristics of each field were surveyed during three observation periods across the season.



Fig. 9. At dawn, two Lesser Black-backed Gull (middle distance) forage on an arable field on Gotland (Photo: Tom Evans/CC BY-NC 4.0)

Results and discussion

Included in this PhD thesis are six different studies, below I summarise each discussing key findings with an illustrative figure for each [NB this section is unreferenced, the fully referenced ideas included may be found in the full papers that follow in the printed version of the thesis.]

Paper I: Foraging behaviour of common murres in the Baltic Sea, recorded by simultaneous attachment of GPS and time-depth recorder devices

The foraging trip of a Common Murre takes it from its nesting cliff on land out over the sea born by its rapidly beating small wings to a foraging site at sea, where it then uses these same wings to carry it deep below the sea surface in search of small fish. To study these foraging trips in detail we must follow the murres' movements both above and below water. As a result of the miniaturisation of biologging devices it is increasingly possible to follow multiple aspects of activity simultaneously. In this study we followed chick-rearing murres both above water with GPS, and below water with time-depth recorders (TDRs), being the first published study to acquire such detailed data simultaneously.

Foraging trips by the murres usually started with a short flight (mean distance 0.3 km), then a period sitting on the sea surface, 'splash-down', before either starting to dive or fly onto a subsequent foraging site. Several bouts of diving occurred per trip sometimes with short flights between these. The final dive bout generally occurred close to the maximum distance reached during the trip. After this final dive bout, the murres usually flew directly back to the breeding-ledge.

The murres had strong daily activity patterns (Fig. 10), with foraging trips leaving earlier in the day being of short duration (<6 h) and distance, usually 5-10 km from the colony. Trips departing in the late afternoon/evening were long duration (usually >6 h), and murres travelled out to more distant foraging sites 25-40 km from the colony. Dives showed a crepuscular pattern, with more dives made around sunset and sunrise, and dive depths were greatest around midday and least around midnight.

During the outbound flights murres usually had quite high groundspeeds, likely aided by tail-winds, but on inbound flights groundspeeds were low, likely owing to headwinds. The murres also seemed to avoid cross-winds, flying with or against the wind. Paper III looked in more detail at this.



Fig. 10. Foraging activity in common murres by time of day. Trip durations by trip start time (A) (n = 22), with overnight trips (black) and daytime trips (grey) indicated. Frequency of dives in one hour bins (B) and depth (log axis) of dives (C, all individual dives shown by small grey open circles) with a smooth line fitted. Local solar time (UTC+1:10) displayed, with sunset and sunrise indicated by vertical dashed lines (C). [Fig 5. of **Paper I**]

Overall, the murres appeared not to be affected by carrying the two devices (reported in supplement 2 of the paper), with breeding success unaffected, yet we did observe mass losses over the course of the device deployments. Unfortunately, as we did not have a control group for body mass, we could not be sure whether these mass losses corresponded to previously observed mass losses between incubation and chickrearing or resulted from carrying the devices. This was the starting point for the next study (Paper II).

Paper II: Back-mounted tags have limited effects on a flying and diving seabird

Biologging data provides researchers with rich information on the movement and behaviour of wild animals, as illustrated in Paper I. We implicitly assume that the data recorded are representative of animals without devices; yet, this assumption is rarely tested in detail. As researchers we also have an ethical obligation to minimise our impacts on the animals we study. Seabirds that both fly and dive, such as Common Murre, may be affected both during flight through air and during diving underwater.

Using the experimental approach from Paper I, we followed individual murres both carrying the small leg-mounted TDR with the larger back-mounted GPS, and with just the TDR. Using a split cross-over approach, where half the murres had the GPS and TDR in the first period then the TDR only in the second, the other half having the reverse order. This allowed their detailed, TDR recorded, activity to be compared when with and without the GPS. Concurrently, a number of control murres were studied, with their breeding success and body condition (mass) measured.



Fig. 11. Mass changes for Common Murre across the chick-rearing period compared between murres with and without tracking devices.

Individual masses and mass trajectories for experimental murres ('Exp', with GPS and TDR devices), and control murres (no device). The first captures of all murres were used to derive the seasonal trend in mass, with a significant reduction in mass through the chick-rearing period (linear regression line shown, grey thick-line). [Fig 2A in **Paper II**]

Breeding success was unaffected, but we did find effects on body condition. For, though all murres lost mass during chick-rearing, more mass was lost during the GPS

deployments, than when with only TDR or no device (Fig. 11). This suggested that the murres were impacted in some way by carrying the GPS. However activity was largely unaffected: diving performance, time-activity budgets, and daily patterns of activity showed no changes. We did find some changes in the depth distribution of dives performed by the murres, but these results were ambiguous, differing between the two experimental groups depending on the order in which devices were deployed.

Why GPS tracked murres lost more mass is unclear, in the paper we provide some suggestions, such as through increased energy consumption during flight, or from reduced foraging performance, thus reduced energy intake rates.

Paper III: Adaptive adjustment of flight height and airspeed in relation to winds in two morphologically distinct seabird species

For seabirds, covering long distances during foraging flights, wind can have a significant impact on the cost of travel and on their travel speeds. Empirical studies have found wind to influence foraging activity, the energetic costs of flight, and influence flight behaviour. While theoretical studies on flight optimality suggest how birds may most beneficially respond to wind conditions by altering their behaviour. Birds are predicted to alter their flight altitudes to experience more beneficial winds, and to vary their airspeeds to improve flight economy.

Common Murre and Lesser Black-backed Gull contrast in their flight mechanics. The murres have small wings, with high wing-loading, and use only flapping flight at high airspeeds. Whereas, the gulls, although of a similar mass, have much larger wings, thus low wing-loading, and they are flight generalists using both flapping and soaring flight styles with lower airspeeds. Using GPS tracking, we followed both species on their inbound flights, returning to their common colony at the end of their central-place foraging trips.

Both species adapted their flight behaviour depending on winds, but they did so differently (Fig 12). Only the gulls adjusted their flight altitude, increasing their flight height to obtain higher wind speeds under beneficial winds, but flying low, close to the sea surface where wind speeds are reduced under conditions of unfavourable winds (head-winds and strong cross-winds). The gulls and murres adjusted their airspeeds according to wind speed and direction. Interestingly, they responded both to the head-tail (assistance) and cross-wind components. Though this is theoretically predicted for flying animals, adjusting airspeed to cross-winds has only been demonstrated in a few cases.

The study raises some interesting questions about how the two species detect winds, to be able to adaptively respond to them. It may also have practical relevance in providing a more mechanistic understanding for how and why birds vary their flight heights, providing a basis for better predictive collision risk models for bird strike with aircraft or with off- and on-shore wind turbine developments.



Fig. 12. Affect of wind on flight altitude (left) and airspeed (Va, right) in GPS tracked Common Murre (top) and Lesser Black-backed Gull (bottom)

Each plot shows model predictions for altitude and airspeed as a coloured background, with intervals of 5 m altitude (left) and 0.5 ms⁻¹ velocity (right). Original data are shown as coloured points, with median values for each flight plot according to the colour scales [adapted from figs. 5, 6 in **Paper III**]. Photos of two species ©Aron Hejdström.

Paper IV: Land or sea? Foraging area choice during breeding by an omnivorous gull

The large gulls (Laridae) are well known for their dietary and habitat generalism. Many species forage both on land and at sea. In this study we investigated how Lesser Black-backed Gull breeding on an offshore island choose between land and sea foraging at three time scales: over the course of a day, across the breeding season, and over three years. We followed individual gulls with GPS across their full breeding period and some across several years too. Achieving this with solar-powered harness mounted GPS devices. Complementing these data, for one year, we visited the main land foraging area used by the gulls. This was an area made of up of mixed-arable farmland on the large nearby island of Gotland. Within this area we made a series of road transects, making observations on fields along each transect. On three occasions around 10 days apart we visited each transect morning and evening. On each visit we noted both the composition of the fields (crop plant species, groundcover, and crop plant height) and the presence or absence of gulls.

We found that gulls made significant use of both land and sea foraging, but that this changed markedly across the season (Fig 13). Early in the season, around the time of pre-laying and incubation, >50 % of foraging trips were to land. Late in the season, in late chick-rearing/post-breeding <10 % of foraging trips were to land, most being to sea. This may suggest dietary switching by the gulls at the onset of chick-rearing, or alternatively may reflect seasonally changing foraging conditions. Our field observations give some support for the latter. Over the season, crops obviously grow! Less obviously this may impact the gulls' foraging. For they are known to forage on earthworms and other invertebrates associated with cropland. On exposed ground these can be found more easily, and additionally as gulls forage on land by walking they can be impeded by high dense vegetation. Throughout the crop-land visits gulls were more commonly observed on fields with less groundcover and shorter vegetation, and the availability of these types of field was reduced across the season.

Within days, gulls were more likely to forage on land in the early morning and under days with wetter conditions (more rainfall). This pattern is consistent with feeding on earthworms which come closer to the soil surface at night, and especially so under damper conditions.

Individual gulls varied in their tendency to forage on land or at sea, though this did not appear to vary between females and males. It does suggest some level of individual dietary specialization in this population.

The results of the study inform on how generalist species make foraging decisions, and in this declining population may also suggest that effective conservation may include management of farming practises in the area.





(a) For each 5 day period (all 3 years pooled) with breeding stages indicated (vertical broken grey lines).
(b) Proportion of all foraging trip departures occurring each hour relative to time of sunrise for data pooled. Period of day is indicated, with night (dark grey), and day (light yellow); as the length of night was not constant throughout the study the maximum- (light grey) and minimum- (dark grey) night duration are indicated. [Fig. 4 in paper IV]

Paper V: Niche sharing and partitioning during foraging among a quartet of coastal gulls

A central theme of ecology is in understanding how communities of species are structured. How do so many species live in one area? For species with apparently overlapping diets feeding at the same trophic level (i.e. members of an ecological guild) this a challenging question to answer. Add that these species are generalists foraging across a wide array of habitats on many different prey and it is harder still; this was the context for this study. On the Björn Archipelago in eastern Sweden, four gull species (Laridae *Larus spp.*) breed near together across a handful of small coastal islands. Previous studies at other sites have looked at how these species differ in their diets, habitat use, and to a lesser extent their foraging behaviour.

GPS tracking provides a very detailed view of foraging, at least with respect to activity in space and time, and more when combined with other data sources (e.g. habitat maps). From such data many different metrics can be extracted, and then compared between species. However, this also raises a challenge, for ideally we should combine these metrics to summarise the information in an ecologically meaningful way. This was the main aim for this study.

Here, we GPS tracked individuals of the four gull species simultaneously during the peak breeding period, from late incubation through to mid chick-rearing. These GPS tracks were then broken down into their constituent foraging trips. Three-types of metric were then extracted for each foraging trip for: movement and behaviour (distance travelled and time in flight), habitat (proportion of trip spent at sea/ on land), and time of day (departure times relative to sunrise and solar-noon). The variation between foraging trips in 16 metrics were then collapsed down to five common dimensions of variation (PCA), or principle components (PCs). E.g. positive values on PC3 were suggestive of foraging at sea with tortuous flight. Finally, foraging trips were grouped together (clustered) if they shared similar values across the five PCs (hierarchical clustering). The analysis suggested seven meaningful groupings of foraging trips (Fig. 14), with each potentially interpretable as a sub-niche available for foraging gulls to use in this area.

Variation within and between species in the types (i.e. clusters) of foraging trip they used were then looked at using diversity indices and overlap measures. At Fågelsundet, our analysis high-lighted interesting differences between the species in individual foraging strategies. Both Herring- and Great Black-backed gulls were species level generalists, using foraging trips from several clusters. However, this arose from different individual strategies, with the Herring Gull generalists also at the individual level. Whereas, individuals within the Great Black-backed gulls mostly performed foraging trips from just a couple of clusters (specialists), but as individuals



Fig. 14. Hierarchical cluster analysis of foraging trips, showing dendrogram (top left) and three exemplar clusters mapped for four species (photos).

The 7 clusters are indicated by colours. The distribution of foraging trips across clusters by species (see colour below each gull photo) is indicated by the lower coloured bar. Species are shown aproximately to scale, given with scientific name and abbreviated English common name). Maps (see legend) show all foraging trips (lines coloured by species) by cluster (2, 5, 6), indicating movement patterns and area use, with relative density of locations in area indicated by opacity. [adapted from fig. 2 in **Paper V**]. Photos adapted and re-used under creative commons licences (shown in margin) from commons.wikimedia.org

showed limited overlaps in the types of foraging trip performed, this resulted in a wider diversity of trip types across the species as a whole (species level generalism).

The approach developed and applied promises to be useful in quantifying shared and unique variation in foraging at different levels of organisation (individuals, populations, and species) and in revealing hidden patterns in biologging data that are ecologically meaningful.

Paper VI: On the move for food or a new home? Longdistance return movements by Lesser Black-backed Gull during breeding

Dispersal is an important process shaping the connectivity between populations, and allowing animals to improve their breeding potential through moving to better breeding locations. For informed dispersal animals must explore potential alternative breeding sites, termed *prospecting* movements. For colonially breeding birds prospecting movements typically occur during the breeding period when the most pertinent information for breeding sites, and assessment of seasonal foraging conditions.

These movements have been studied through observations of individually colour/metal ringed birds. Showing, for example, that female birds and failed breeders more often make these movements. Ideally though, we should like to follow individual birds as they make these journeys, how many sites do they visit? What triggers their movements? How often do they perform prospecting movements?

By GPS tracking Lesser Black-backed Gull throughout the year with remotely downloaded, solar-powered devices (see **papers III-V**) at two separate colonies in the Baltic Sea we gained a detailed insight into the nature of these movements and under what conditions the gulls chose to make prospecting movements.

Levels of breeding success were low for both colonies (estimated <30%) suggesting poor breeding conditions, potentially owing to high rates of nest and chick predation. Gulls from both colonies made a number of exceptionally long return movements reaching maximum distances from their colonies of >150 km. A minority of these were identified as extended foraging trips visiting more distant marine areas. The majority though included visits to multiple (mean: 3, range 1-15) land locations (Fig. 15), with many of these sites visited by multiple individuals. The trips ranged over a large area encompassing a large part of the Baltic Sea. Though previous studies suggested these types of movements to be more common in females, we found no significant differences between sexes. The trips did differ between the two colonies, however, with those travelling from the northern colony on average making much longer (duration and distance) prospecting movements.



Fig. 15. Prospecting trips by a Lesser Black-backed Gull from the northern study colony A female breeding at Fågelsundet (top open diamond) performing seven trips during the two years she was tracked (2014-2015), visiting a large part of the Baltic Sea including briefly Stora Karlsö (lower open diamond). Individual trips are shown in different colours. [Fig 5A from paper VI]

This study suggests potentially high connectivity within the threatened Baltic Sea meta-population of Lesser Black-backed Gull. It also illustrates the great potential of

biologging data to allow the observation of previously opaque, yet ecologically important behavioural phenomena.

Combined discussion and perspectives

The six studies reported herein ranged widely across the movement ecology of five seabird species. Thinking synoptically across the studies a number of general themes emerge relating to foraging ecology during breeding for central-place foraging seabirds, and more broadly for how we may use biologging data in ecology. Each study also raises its own interesting questions suggesting ideas for future studies, here I highlight one question for each paper:

- Paper I. Common Murre used long overnight and short daytime trips, visiting more distant foraging areas on the long trips. Are these direct analogues of the dual-foraging strategy (Weimerskirch et al. 1994, Weimerskirch 1998) so far described mostly in the albatross and petrel species? Recent studies in auks suggest longer overnight trips may be used to visit more productive distant foraging grounds (Welcker Jorg et al. 2009, Harding et al. 2013, Jakubas et al. 2016) but how widespread this strategy is across seabirds is unclear. Do long-trips allow murres to improve their condition (self-provisioning) while losing condition on short-trips (chick-provisioning)? These predictions of a true dual-foraging strategy *sensu* Weimerskirch et al. (1994). This could be tested through using weighing platforms at the nesting site (potentially possible to implement at the Karlsö Murre Lab, Hentati-Sundberg et al. 2012), are parents heavier when returning from long trips than from the short trips?
- Paper II. We found that Common Murre carrying GPS devices lost more mass than when without the device, though we found no measurable effects on activity. Why do they lose this mass? Whether they have elevated energy expenditures when carrying the tags during specific activities (e.g. diving vs. flight) could be investigated through using miniature heartrate monitors or accelerometers following the same dual-tagging approach used in this paper. Likewise, whether foraging success is affected could be investigated using stomach-temperature loggers or cameras.
- Paper III. Both Common Murre and Lesser Black-backed Gull varied their flight behaviour according to winds during their inbound flights returning to their colony, thus, goal-directed flight. Do they do the same during other types of flight? E.g. outbound flights and searching/exploratory movements; during

these times the cost of being blown off course is presumably lower (compared to missing their colony).

- Paper IV. Lesser Black-backed Gull foraged more on land during the early breeding season, then at sea later in the season. Does this reflect changes in prey availability (external conditions) or in nutritional needs of the parent gulls/offspring (internal state)? This could be investigated by a combination of cross-fostering experiments, dietary analysis of both parents and young, and ideally by directly measuring prey availability (especially of marine prey here).
- Paper V. Four gull species overlapped in their foraging behaviour, with common types of foraging trip across species. How closely do clusters of foraging behaviour correspond to more classical dietary niches? This could be investigated by combining the tracking approach used with concurrent studies of diet, from pellets or stable isotope analyses.
- Paper VI. Lesser Black-backed Gull made long distance movements visiting many coastal areas, apparently prospecting for alternative breeding sites, presumably for future years. Do they maintain a 'map' of alternative breeding sites? This could be tested through tracking gulls from their first year of life over several years, testing if they repeatedly visit the same sites, and if their movements between/to these sites becomes more directed over time, indicating goal-oriented flight.

Looking across these studies, can we make some more general conclusions about seabird movement ecology?

Three of the studies (papers I, III, and IV) showed that individual foraging activity is dynamically shaped by weather conditions: wind affected how quickly murres and gulls could travel (papers I and III); while gulls chose to forage on land more under damp and cool conditions (paper IV); and both murres and gulls adapted their flight behaviour to improve their cost of transport (distance travelled per unit energy) as wind conditions varied (paper III). These add to a growing body of results: showing how wind conditions can increase (Gabrielsen et al. 1987, Elliott et al. 2014) and decrease (Furness and Bryant 1996, Amélineau et al. 2014) energy expenditure during the flight of seabirds, and thus that wind may affect foraging decisions (Weimerskirch et al. 2012, Lewis et al. 2015, Pistorius et al. 2015).

Using biologging devices, and especially GPS we follow how animals move spatially and how their movements vary over time, i.e. spatiotemporal activity. Three of the studies in the thesis (papers I, IV, V) showed that foraging activity can be best understood when looking at spatiotemporal patterns in movement, rather than e.g. looking in isolation at the timing of foraging trips, or only where birds forage. Common Murre varied both where they foraged by time of day and how they foraged

(paper I), travelling further on longer overnight trips than in shorter daytime trips (see question for paper I above) and diving shallower and more frequently around sunset and sunrise than in the middle of the day. Lesser Black-backed Gull varied how much they foraged on land rather than at sea across three temporal scales (paper IV), doing so more in some years than others, more frequently at the beginning of the breeding season, and more often on foraging trips performed early in the day than those with later departures. Similar results for daily activity patterns were shown for four gull species (paper V), these suggesting that certain types of habitat were used by multiple species at the same times of day, this indicative of foraging on a common prey or food source showing daily variation in relative availability (to alternative prey/food). Biologging is thus allowing researchers to revisit some earlier results on how the spatiotemporal patterns of birds and their prey are linked (Sibly and McCleery 1983, Piersma et al. 1988) but this time we can follow the activity of individual animals over time. Future studies will increasingly be able to track both predator and prey, which a few marine studies have already achieved in showing how predators vary their foraging decisions in response to prey density and distribution in the water column (Hazen et al. 2015, Cimino et al. 2016).

As discussed biologging is giving researchers many new insights into the movement ecology of seabirds. However, it is still important to consider the impacts on study animals, from both a welfare perspective, and from a scientific perspective – i.e. are we measuring 'natural behaviour'? The activity of Common Murre did not appear much affected by carrying back-mounted GPS devices (paper II), though a review of previous studies (also in paper II) suggested there may be device effects. We did not investigate device effects in the gulls, though this has been studied elsewhere (Thaxter et al. 2014, 2015), suggesting minimal effects on survival and reproduction. That biologging gives really novel insights was shown nicely in the final study (paper VI), where we observed a key aspect of population ecology, how animals choose to disperse and how they collect information to inform these movements, when we tracked the remarkable prospecting movements of Lesser Black-backed Gull.

What next for biologging? A continuing challenge for biologging science is how we best exploit the rich possibilities of these new data to address ecological questions (Jeltsch et al. 2013, Demšar et al. 2015, Börger 2016). How should the analysis of the data keep up with the pace of technological development? One aspect of this is to combine biologging data with complementary data on aspects affecting the movement of animals, e.g. to investigate relatively fine-scale behavioural responses to wind conditions during flight (paper III), or of weather conditions on foraging area choice (paper IV). A further challenge is of the complexity and quantity of data now collected, often with many potential variables, e.g. for a foraging trip: the habitat used, the time spent in flight, and the time of day (paper V). We can analyse different components separately, but by combining multiple components into a single analysis we can get a fuller picture of how these operate together. One promising approach is

to use clustering or similarity analyses, i.e. the grouping of data by those sharing common properties. There are several ways to do this, usually either clustering by similarity in summary metrics (Louzao et al. 2014, Orben et al. 2015), or to find repeated or similar sequences of behaviour (De Groeve et al. 2016). Using the clustering and data summary approach we looked at how four species of gull varied in the types of foraging trip they performed, and to what extent different types of foraging trip were common across species (paper V).

A great strength of biologging studies is that they can follow individual animals in great detail, but this is also perhaps the biggest challenge for biologging, how to scale back up from individuals to populations. On Stora Karlsö >3,000 Common Murre chicks are ringed each year; in a productive year we will tag just two-orders of magnitude fewer adults with tracking devices! However, following individuals can give insights into how they respond to changes in their environment at the small scale, which can indicate possible mechanisms for population and species level responses to larger scale climate or environmental change (Weimerskirch et al. 2012, Frederiksen et al. 2016), which has been termed environmental demography (Frederiksen 2014). Through tracking over longer time periods, e.g. using solar-powered harness-mounted GPS tags (papers III-VI), we can investigate how foraging changes over the season and across years (IV). Tracking over longer time periods can also reveal rarer movements beyond foraging and migration, such as the prospecting movements (paper VI) which may anticipate breeding dispersal, thus are important in understanding meta-population dynamics.

Most biologging studies follow animals from just one population, or species, including half of the papers (papers I, II, IV) in this thesis! However, clearly many important ecological processes occur above these levels, with interactions between species (paper V, Wilson 2010, Conners et al. 2015), or between populations within a species (paper VI, Hunt, and Hunt 1973, Kubetzki and Garthe 2003, Wakefield et al. 2013). I followed Lesser Black-backed Gull at two sites (papers III-VI), looking into their foraging ecology (papers IV and V), interestingly there were differences between the two sites, gulls from the northern site (Björn Archipelago) exploited nearly exclusively marine resources, while those from the southern site (Stora Karlsö) used both terrestrial and marine habitats. This may suggest greater inter-specific competition at the northern site, where more gulls occur in sympatry, leading to niche segregation, but it may also reflect better availability of marine prey at the northern site. Alternatively, there may be more competition among fish-eating seabirds at the southern site, for here many thousands of the fish-specialist Common Murre and Razorbill breed, thus the more generalist Lesser Black-backed Gull may be displaced to forage on alternative prey. Further investigations will be needed to determine which of these potential mechanisms are responsible.

It is an exciting time to work in ecology, and especially seabird ecology, as these new biologging tools continue to improve, making it possible to revisit old and new questions, and of course to ask new questions too!


The author with a Lesser Black-backed Gull with a GPS (Photo: ©Linda Takahashi)

Tack! Thanks! Diolch! የቐንየለይ Merci!

This PhD thesis relied on the help and support of so many, I will not name you all, and I am sorry to those left off.

First I would like to thank my supervisor, Susanne, thanks for your support and guidance, and in allowing me to fulfil my scientific curiosity. Then thanks to my cosupervisors, in Lund, Anders, and up in Stockholm, Olof. Anders, it has been fun to discuss flying seabirds! Olof, thanks for all your support especially in making the fieldwork at Stora Karlsö possible. Thanks Per for guiding me through this whole process as my examiner, and Erik as mentor.

Thanks to those who inspired me along the way, from my earliest years and onwards. Richard Warn, whose passion for biology was infectious. The manx shearwaters of Hallival on the Isle of Rhum first inspired me to study seabirds, with the magical combination of mountains, seabirds, an offshore island, and Scotland! Those at Oxford University and Skomer Island, where I first studied seabirds: Dave Boyle, Chris Perrins, Robin Freeman, and especially Tim Guilford, you have been a great mentor over the years.

Thanks to friends and family. Especially to Keith, Siggi, and Maggie, thanks for all your support along the way, and for living in a great place! Mum (thanks for the beautiful cover image), Dad, Sally, Howard, and George (thanks for reading drafts of the thesis).

Thanks to the members of the Animal Navigation Lab, thanks for the great lab group discussions and general help. I cannot name you all, though some special mentions to past and current members: Natalie, Kozue, Jannie, Johannis, Gabriel, Siri, Giuseppe, Martin, and Martin!

To those of CAnMove, and the old Migration journal club: Christina, Helena, Caroline, Rachel, Raymond, Thomas, Cecilia, Sissel, Yannis, and Linus. Thanks to Johan and Arne for making all the technology work!

To all others in the Ecology building for support and advice: Anne, Jan-Åke, and Ola, all those in the Biology Library, plus those in the Evolutionary Ecology and MEMEG

sections, to name just a few, Marco, Anna, Lokesh, Katrine, Pablo, Utku, Martin, Hannah, Max, Frederik, and Elin.

Thanks to my collaborators. At (or formerly of) the Baltic Seabird Project and the Stockholm Resilience Centre; Martina, Olof, Jonas, Henrik, and PA. In Amsterdam, the UvA-BiTS team, especially Judy, Willem, and Edwin. Á Marseille, merci Franck et Julien!

To those that made the fieldwork possible and fun! At Stora Karlsö: Karlsöbolaget, Ebba, Martina, PA, Linda, Blanca, Rebecca, Aron, Anneli, och Lova! At Fågelsundet, Ulrik, Lennart, and Kjell. Plus, of course all the guillemots and gulls!

Hus-kompisar, det har varit roligt att dela huset i Hjärup.

This thesis is all about movement, of movements across the seas, and under the seas, and it is written by one that has travelled overseas to write it. I thank all those that continue to believe in and support the international exchange of people and ideas that has made my life in Lund so interesting and stimulating.

References

- Amélineau, F., Péron, C., Lescroël, A., Authier, M., Provost, P. and Grémillet, D. 2014. Windscape and tortuosity shape the flight costs of northern gannets. - J. Exp. Biol. 217: 876–885.
- Anderson, H. B., Evans, P. G. H., Potts, J. M., Harris, M. P. and Wanless, S. 2014. The diet of Common Guillemot *Uria aalge* chicks provides evidence of changing prey communities in the North Sea. - *Ibis* 156: 23–34.
- Annett, C. and Pierotti, R. 1989. Chick Hatching as a Trigger for Dietary Switching in the Western Gull. - Colon. Waterbirds 12: 4–11.
- Arditi, R. and Dacorogna, B. 1988. Optimal Foraging on Arbitrary Food Distributions and the Definition of Habitat Patches. - Am. Nat. 131: 837–846.
- ArtDatabanken 2015. Rödlistade arter i Sverige 2015. ArtDatabanken SLU.
- Ashbrook, K., Wanless, S., Harris, M. P. and Hamer, K. C. 2008. Hitting the buffers: conspecific aggression undermines benefits of colonial breeding under adverse conditions. *- Biol. Lett.* 4: 630–633.
- Ashmole, N. P. 1963. The Regulation of Numbers of Tropical Oceanic Birds. *Ibis* 103b: 458–473.
- Ashmole, N. P. and Ashmole, M. J. 1967. Comparative feeding ecology of sea birds of a tropical oceanic island. Peabody Museum of Natural History, Yale University New Haven.
- Ballance, L. T., Ainley, D. G., Ballard, G. and Barton, K. 2009. An energetic correlate between colony size and foraging effort in seabirds, an example of the Adélie penguin *Pygoscelis adeliae. - J. Avian Biol.* 40: 279–288.
- Barger, C. P. and Kitaysky, A. S. 2012. Isotopic segregation between sympatric seabird species increases with nutritional stress. - *Biol. Lett.* 8: 442–445.
- Barlow, E. J., Daunt, F., Wanless, S. and Reid, J. M. 2013. Estimating dispersal distributions at multiple scales: within-colony and among-colony dispersal rates, distances and directions in European Shags *Phalacrocorax aristotelis. - Ibis* 155: 762–778.
- Barrett, R. T. 2015. Atlantic Puffin Fratercula arctica chick growth in relation to food load composition. - Seabird 28: 17–29.
- Bearhop, S., Adams, C. E., Waldron, S., Fuller, R. A. and Macleod, H. 2004. Determining trophic niche width: a novel approach using stable isotope analysis. - J. Anim. Ecol. 73: 1007–1012.

- Bédard, J. 1976. Coexistence, Coevolution and Convergent Evolution in Seabird Communities: A Comment. - *Ecology* 57: 177–184.
- Bell, A. M., Hankison, S. J. and Laskowski, K. L. 2009. The repeatability of behaviour: a metaanalysis. - Anim. Behav. 77: 771–783.
- Benowitz-Fredericks, Z. M., Kitaysky, A. S. and Thompson, C. W. 2006. Growth and allocation in captive common murre (*Uria aalge*) chicks. *The Auk* 123: 722–734.
- Berlincourt, M., Angel, L. P. and Arnould, J. P. Y. 2015. Combined Use of GPS and Accelerometry Reveals Fine Scale Three-Dimensional Foraging Behaviour in the Short-Tailed Shearwater. *PLoS ONE* 10: e0139351.
- Bernstein, C., Kacelnik, A. and Krebs, J. R. 1988. Individual Decisions and the Distribution of Predators in a Patchy Environment. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 57: 1007–1026.
- Bernstein, C., Kacelnik, A. and Krebs, J. R. 1991. Individual Decisions and the Distribution of Predators in a Patchy Environment. II. The Influence of Travel Costs and Structure of the Environment. - J. Anim. Ecol. 60: 205–225.
- Birdlife International 2012. *Larus fuscus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2015.2.
- Birdlife International 2015a. Important Bird and Biodiversity Area factsheet: Karlsö islands. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org on 11/12/2015.
- Birdlife International 2015b. Species factsheet: Uria aalge.
- BirdLife International 2015. European red list of birds. Office for Offical Publications of the European Communities.
- BirdLife International. 2016a. *Larus canus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T22694308A86717781. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-3.RLTS.T22694308A86717781.en. Downloaded on 24 February 2017.
- BirdLife International. 2016b. *Larus argentatus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T62030608A89504806. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-3.RLTS.T62030608A89504806.en. Downloaded on 24 February 2017.
- BirdLife International. 2016c. *Larus marinus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T22694324A86733265. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-3.RLTS.T22694324A86733265.en. Downloaded on 24 February 2017.
- BirdLife International (2017) Important Bird Areas factsheet: Björn archipelago. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org on 22/02/2017.
- Birkhead, T. R. 1977. Adaptive Significance of the Nestling Period of Guillemots Uria aalge. Ibis 119: 544–549.
- Birkhead, T. R. 1985. Coloniality and Social Behaviour in the Atlantic Alcidae. In: Nettleship, D. and Birkhead, T. R. (eds), *The Atlantic Alcidae*. Academic Press, pp. 355.
- Birt, V. L., Birt, T. P., Goulet, D., Cairns, D. K. and Montevecchi, W. A. 1987. Ashmole's halo: direct evidence for prey depletion by a seabird. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 40: 205–208.

- Blount, J. D., Houston, D. C., Surai, P. F. and Møller, A. P. 2004. Egg-Laying Capacity Is Limited by Carotenoid Pigment Availability in Wild Gulls *Larus fuscus. - Proc. Biol. Sci.*: S79–S81.
- Bogdanova, M. I., Wanless, S., Harris, M. P., Lindström, J., Butler, A., Newell, M. A., Sato, K., Watanuki, Y., Parsons, M. and Daunt, F. 2014. Among-year and within-population variation in foraging distribution of European shags *Phalacrocorax aristotelis* over two decades: Implications for marine spatial planning. - *Biol. Conserv.* 170: 292–299.
- Bolnick, D. I., Svanbäck, R., Fordyce, J. A., Yang, L. H., Davis, J. M., Hulsey, C. D. and Forister, M. L. 2003. The Ecology of Individuals: Incidence and Implications of Individual Specialization. - Am. Nat. 161: 1–28.
- Bonadonna, F., Benhamou, S. and Jouventin, P. 2003. Orientation in "featureless" environments: the extreme case of pelagic birds. - Avian Migration Ed P Berthold E Gwinner E Sonnenschein: 367–377.
- Börger, L. 2016. Editorial: Stuck in motion? Reconnecting questions and tools in movement ecology. J. Anim. Ecol. 85: 5–10.
- Boulinier, T. and Danchin, E. 1997. The use of conspecific reproductive success for breeding patch selection in terrestrial migratory species. *Evol. Ecol.* 11: 505–517.
- Bouten, W., Baaij, E. W., Shamoun-Baranes, J. and Camphuysen, K. C. J. 2013. A flexible GPS tracking system for studying bird behaviour at multiple scales. *J. Ornithol.* 154: 571–580.
- Bowlin, M. S., Henningsson, P., Muijres, F. T., Vleugels, R. H. E., Liechti, F. and Hedenström, A. 2010. The effects of geolocator drag and weight on the flight ranges of small migrants: Effects of geolocators. - *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 1: 398–402.
- Bradsheet, M. and Brown, R. G. B. 1985. Feeding ecology of the Atlantic Alcidae. In: Nettleship, D. and Birkhead, T. R. (eds), *The Atlantic Alcidae*. Academic Press, pp. 263– 318.
- Brooke, M. de L. 2002. Seabird systematics and distribution: a review of current knowledge. -In: Schreiber, E. A. and Burger, J. (eds), *Biology of marine birds*. pp. 57–85.
- Brown, R. G. B. 1967. Breeding Success and Population Growth in a Colony of Herring and Lesser Black-Backed Gulls *Larus Argentatus* and *L. Fuscus. Ibis* 109: 502–515.
- Buren, A. D., Koen-Alonso, M. and Montevecchi, W. A. 2012. Linking predator diet and prey availability: common murres and capelin in the Northwest Atlantic. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 445: 25–35.
- Burger, A. E. and Wilson, R. P. 1988. Capillary-Tube Depth Gauges for Diving Animals: An Assessment of Their Accuracy and Applicability (Indicadores de Profundidad de Tubos Capilares para Animals que se Sumergen: una Evaluación de su Exactitud y Aplicabilidad). - J. Field Ornithol. 59: 345–354.
- Burke, C. M. and Montevecchi, W. A. 2009. The foraging decisions of a central place foraging seabird in response to fluctuations in local prey conditions. *J. Zool.* **278**: 354–361.

- Burton, N. H. K., Banks, A. N., Calladine, J. R. and Austin, G. E. 2013. The importance of the United Kingdom for wintering gulls: population estimates and conservation requirements. *Bird Study* **60**: 87–101.
- Cama, A., Abellana, R., Christel, I., Ferrer, X. and Vieites, D. R. 2012. Living on predictability: modelling the density distribution of efficient foraging seabirds. - *Ecography* 35: 912–921.
- Camphuysen, K. C. J., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Loon, E. E. van and Bouten, W. 2015. Sexually distinct foraging strategies in an omnivorous seabird. *Mar. Biol.* 162: 1417–1428.
- Campioni, L., Granadeiro, J. P. and Catry, P. 2016. Niche segregation between immature and adult seabirds: does progressive maturation play a role? *Behav. Ecol.* 27(2): 426-433
- Casini, M., Lövgren, J., Hjelm, J., Cardinale, M., Molinero, J.-C. and Kornilovs, G. 2008. Multi-level trophic cascades in a heavily exploited open marine ecosystem. - Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 275: 1793–1801.
- Casini, M., Kornilovs, G., Cardinale, M., Möllmann, C., Grygiel, W., Jonsson, P., Raid, T., Flinkman, J. and Feldman, V. 2011. Spatial and temporal density dependence regulates the condition of central Baltic Sea clupeids: compelling evidence using an extensive international acoustic survey. - *Popul. Ecol.* 53: 511–523.
- Ceia, F. R. and Ramos, J. A. 2015. Individual specialization in the foraging and feeding strategies of seabirds: a review. *Mar. Biol.* 162(10): 1923–1938.
- Ceia, F., Phillips, R., Ramos, J., Cherel, Y., Vieira, R., Richard, P. and Xavier, J. 2012. Shortand long-term consistency in the foraging niche of wandering albatrosses. - *Mar. Biol.* 159: 1581–1591.
- Certain, G., Bellier, E., Planque, B. and Bretagnolle, V. 2007. Characterising the temporal variability of the spatial distribution of animals: an application to seabirds at sea. *Ecography* **30**: 695–708.
- Chapman, J. W., Klaassen, R. H. G., Drake, V. A., Fossette, S., Hays, G. C., Metcalfe, J. D., Reynolds, A. M., Reynolds, D. R. and Alerstam, T. 2011. Animal Orientation Strategies for Movement in Flows. - *Curr. Biol.* 21: R861–R870.
- Charnov, E. L. 1976. Optimal foraging, the marginal value theorem. *Theor. Popul. Biol.* 9: 129–136.
- Chastel, O., Weimerskirch, H. and Jouventin, P. 1995. Body Condition and Seabird Reproductive Performance: A Study of Three Petrel Species. - *Ecology* 76: 2240.
- Chaurand, T. and Weimerskirch, H. 1994. The Regular Alternation of Short and Long Foraging Trips in the Blue Petrel *Halobaena caerulea*: A Previously Undescribed Strategy of Food Provisioning in a Pelagic Seabird. - *J. Anim. Ecol.* **63**: 275–282.
- Cimino, M. A., Moline, M. A., Fraser, W. R., Patterson-Fraser, D. L. and Oliver, M. J. 2016. Climate-driven sympatry may not lead to foraging competition between congeneric toppredators. - Sci. Rep. 6: 18820.
- Clarke, A. L., Sæther, B.-E. and Røskaft, E. 1997. Sex Biases in Avian Dispersal: A Reappraisal. - Oikos 79: 429–438.

- Cleeland, J. B., Lea, M.-A. and Hindell, M. A. 2014. Use of the Southern Ocean by breeding Short-tailed shearwaters (*Puffinus tenuirostris*). - J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 450: 109–117.
- Clode, D. 1993. Colonially breeding seabirds: Predators or prey? Trends Ecol. Evol. 8: 336-338.
- Cody, M. L. 1973. Coexistence, Coevoluation and Convergent Evolution in Seabird Communities. *Ecology* 54: 31–44.
- Colblentz, B. E. 1985. Mutualism between Laughing Gulls *Larus atricilla* and epipelagic fishes. - *Cormorant* 13: 61–63.
- Conners, M. G., Hazen, E. L., Costa, D. P. and Shaffer, S. A. 2015. Shadowed by scale: subtle behavioral niche partitioning in two sympatric, tropical breeding albatross species. *Mov. Ecol.* **3**: 1–20.
- Coulson, J. C. 2001. Colonial Breeding in Seabirds. In: Schreiber, E. A. and Burger, J. (eds), *Biology of Marine Birds.* CRC Press, pp. 87–114.
- Coulson, J. C., Thomas, C. S., Butterfield, J. E. L., Duncan, N., Monaghan, P. and Shedden, C. 1983. The use of head and bill length to sex live gulls Laridae. *Ibis* **125**: 549–557.
- Croll, D. A., Gaston, A. J., Burger, A. E. and Konnoff, D. 1992. Foraging Behavior and Physiological Adaptation for Diving in Thick-Billed Murres. *Ecology* 73: 344–356.
- Croxall, J. P., Prince, P. A. and Reid, K. 1997. Dietary segregation of krill-eating South Georgia seabirds. *J. Zool.* 242: 531–556.
- Croxall, J. P., Silk, J. R. D., Phillips, R. A., Afanasyev, V. and Briggs, D. R. 2005. Global Circumnavigations: Tracking Year-Round Ranges of Nonbreeding Albatrosses. - Science 307: 249–250.
- Croxall, J. P., Butchart, S. H. M., Lascelles, B., Stattersfield, A. J., Sullivan, B., Symes, A. and Taylor, P. 2012. Seabird conservation status, threats and priority actions: a global assessment. - *Bird Conserv. Int.* 22: 1–34.
- Cury, P. M., Boyd, I. L., Bonhommeau, S., Anker-Nilssen, T., Crawford, R. J. M., Furness, R. W., Mills, J. A., Murphy, E. J., Österblom, H., Paleczny, M., Piatt, J. F., Roux, J.-P., Shannon, L. and Sydeman, W. J. 2011. Global Seabird Response to Forage Fish Depletion—One-Third for the Birds. *Science* 334: 1703–1706.
- Dall, S. R. X. and Griffith, S. C. 2014. An empiricist guide to animal personality variation in ecology and evolution. *Behav. Evol. Ecol.* 2: 3.
- Danchin, E. and Wagner, R. H. 1997. The evolution of coloniality: the emergence of new perspectives. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 12: 342–347.
- Dänhardt, J. 2009. On the importance of farmland as stopover habitat for migrating birds.
- Davis, J. W. F. 1975. Specialization in Feeding Location by Herring Gulls. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 44: 795–804.
- Davis, J. W. F. and Dunn, E. K. 1976. Intraspecific Predation and Colonial Breeding in Lesser Black-Backed Gulls *Larus Fuscus. - Ibis* 118: 65–77.

- De Groeve, J., Van de Weghe, N., Ranc, N., Neutens, T., Ometto, L., Rota-Stabelli, O. and Cagnacci, F. 2016. Extracting spatio-temporal patterns in animal trajectories: an ecological application of sequence analysis methods. - *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 7: 369–379.
- Dean, B., Kirk, H., Fayet, A., Shoji, A., Freeman, R., Leonard, K., Perrins, C. M. and Guilford, T. 2015. Simultaneous multi-colony tracking of a pelagic seabird reveals cross-colony utilization of a shared foraging area. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 538: 239–248.
- Delong, R. L., Stewart, B. S. and Hill, R. D. 1992. Documenting Migrations of Northern Elephant Seals Using Day Length. - Mar. Mammal Sci. 8: 155–159.
- Demšar, U., Buchin, K., Cagnacci, F., Safi, K., Speckmann, B., Van de Weghe, N., Weiskopf, D. and Weibel, R. 2015. Analysis and visualisation of movement: an interdisciplinary review. - *Mov. Ecol.* 3: 5.
- Dickey-Collas, M., Brown, J., Fernand, L., Hill, A. E., Horsburgh, K. J. and Garvine, R. W. 1997. Does the western Irish Sea gyre influence the distribution of pelagic juvenile fish? -*J. Fish Biol.* 51: 206–229.
- Doughty, C. E., Roman, J., Faurby, S., Wolf, A., Haque, A., Bakker, E. S., Malhi, Y., Dunning, J. B. and Svenning, J.-C. 2016. Global nutrient transport in a world of giants. - *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 113(4): 868–873.
- Douglas-Hamilton, I. 1998. Tracking African elephants with a global positioning system (GPS) radio collar. *Pachyderm*: 81–92.
- Drent, R. H. and Daan, S. 1980. The prudent parent: energetic adjustments in avian breeding. Ardea 68: 225–252.
- Duffy, D. C. 1980. Patterns of Piracy by Peruvian Seabirds: A Depth Hypothesis. *Ibis* 122: 521–525.
- Duhem, C., Roche, P., Vidal, E. and Tatoni, T. 2008. Effects of anthropogenic food resources on yellow-legged gull colony size on Mediterranean islands. - *Popul. Ecol.* 50: 91–100.
- Edenius, L. 1997. Field test of a GPS location system for moose *Alces alces* under Scandinavian boreal conditions. *Wildl. Biol.* **3**: 39–43.
- Elliott, K. H., Woo, K. J., Gaston, A. J., Benvenuti, S., Dall'Antonia, L. and Davoren, G. K. 2009. Central-place Foraging in an Arctic Seabird Provides Evidence for Storer-Ashmole's Halo. - *The Auk* 126: 613–625.
- Elliott, K. H., Gaston, A. J. and Crump, D. 2010. Sex-specific behavior by a monomorphic seabird represents risk partitioning. *Behav. Ecol.* 21: 1024–1032.
- Elliott, K. H., Ricklefs, R. E., Gaston, A. J., Hatch, S. A., Speakman, J. R. and Davoren, G. K. 2013. High flight costs, but low dive costs, in auks support the biomechanical hypothesis for flightlessness in penguins. - *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 110: 9380–9384.
- Elliott, K. H., Chivers, L. S., Bessey, L., Gaston, A. J., Hatch, S. A., Kato, A., Osborne, O., Ropert-Coudert, Y., Speakman, J. R. and Hare, J. F. 2014. Windscapes shape seabird instantaneous energy costs but adult behavior buffers impact on offspring. - *Mov. Ecol.* 2: 17.

- Ellis, H. and Gabrielsen, G. W. 2001. Energetics of Free-Ranging Seabirds. In: Schreiber, E. A. and Burger, J. (eds), *Biology of Marine Birds*. CRC Press, pp. 359–408.
- Erikstad, K. E., Reiertsen, T. K., Barrett, R. T., Vikeb, F. and Sandvik, H. 2013. Seabird–fish interactions: the fall and rise of a common guillemot *Uria aalge* population. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 475: 267–276.
- Evans, J. C., Votier, S. C. and Dall, S. R. X. 2016. Information use in colonial living. *Biol. Rev.* 91: 658–672.
- Fauchald, P. 2009. Spatial interaction between seabirds and prey: review and synthesis. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 391: 139–151.
- Fayet, A. L., Freeman, R., Shoji, A., Padget, O., Perrins, C. M. and Guilford, T. 2015. Lower foraging efficiency in immatures drives spatial segregation with breeding adults in a longlived pelagic seabird. - Anim. Behav. 110: 79–89.
- Fears, D. 2015. The world's oldest bird is ready to do the unthinkable have yet another baby. - Wash. Post
- Fisher, J. and Lockley, R. M. 1954. Sea-birds: an introduction to the natural history of the seabirds of the North Atlantic. - London, UK: Collins.
- Fort, J., Steen, H., Strøm, H., Tremblay, Y., Grønningsæter, E., Pettex, E., Porter, W. P. and Grémillet, D. 2013. Energetic consequences of contrasting winter migratory strategies in a sympatric Arctic seabird duet. - J. Avian Biol. 44: 255–262.
- Frederiksen, M. 2014. Environmental demography Exploring the links between vital rates and a fluctuating environment. *Doctor's dissertation*. Aarhus University, Department of Bioscience, Denmark. 80 pp.
- Frederiksen, M. and Haug, T. 2015. Editorial: Climate Change and Marine Top Predators. Front. Ecol. Evol. 3: 136
- Frederiksen, M., Descamps, S., Erikstad, K. E., Gaston, A. J., Gilchrist, H. G., Grémillet, D., Johansen, K. L., Kolbeinsson, Y., Linnebjerg, J. F., Mallory, M. L., McFarlane Tranquilla, L. A., Merkel, F. R., Montevecchi, W. A., Mosbech, A., Reiertsen, T. K., Robertson, G. J., Steen, H., Strøm, H. and Thórarinsson, T. L. 2016. Migration and wintering of a declining seabird, the thick-billed murre *Uria lomvia*, on an ocean basin scale: Conservation implications. *Biol. Conserv.* 200: 26–35.
- Fretwell, S. D. and Lucas, H. L. 1969. On territorial behavior and other factors influencing habitat distribution in birds. *Acta Biotheor.* 19: 16–36.
- Froy, H., Phillips, R. A., Wood, A. G., Nussey, D. H. and Lewis, S. 2013. Age-related variation in reproductive traits in the wandering albatross: evidence for terminal improvement following senescence. - *Ecol. Lett.* 16: 642–649.
- Furness, R. W. and Bryant, D. M. 1996. Effect of Wind on Field Metabolic Rates of Breeding Northern Fulmars. - *Ecology* 77: 1181–1188.
- Gabrielsen, G. W., Mehlum, F. and Nagy, K. A. 1987. Daily Energy Expenditure and Energy Utilization of Free-Ranging Black-Legged Kittiwakes. *The Condor* **89**: 126–132.

- Gagliardo, A., Bried, J., Lambardi, P., Luschi, P., Wikelski, M. and Bonadonna, F. 2013. Oceanic navigation in Cory's shearwaters: evidence for a crucial role of olfactory cues for homing after displacement. - J. Exp. Biol. 216: 2798–2805.
- García-Tarrasón, M., Bécares, J., Bateman, S., Arcos, J. M., Jover, L. and Sanpera, C. 2015. Sex-specific foraging behavior in response to fishing activities in a threatened seabird. -*Ecol. Evol.* 5: 2348–2358.
- Garthe, S. and Scherp, B. 2003. Utilization of discards and offal from commercial fisheries by seabirds in the Baltic Sea. *ICES J. Mar. Sci. J. Cons.* **60**: 980.
- Gaston, A. J. 2004. Seabirds: a natural history. Yale University Press.
- Gaston, A. J. and Hipfner, J. M. 2006. Adult Brünnich's Guillemots *Uria lomvia* balance body condition and investment in chick growth. *Ibis* 148: 106–113.
- Gaston, A. J., Ydenberg, R. C. and Smith, G. E. J. 2007. Ashmole's halo and population regulation in seabirds. *Mar. Ornithol.* 35: 119–126.
- Gause, G. F. 1934. *The struggle for existence.* The Williams & Wilkins company, Baltimore, USA.
- Geiger, R., Aron, R. H. and Todhunter, P. 2009. *The climate near the ground.* Rowman & Littlefield Pub. Group.
- Gladics, A. J., Suryan, R. M., Parrish, J. K., Horton, C. A., Daly, E. A. and Peterson, W. T. 2015. Environmental drivers and reproductive consequences of variation in the diet of a marine predator. - J. Mar. Syst. 146: 72–81.
- Götmark, F. 1982. Coloniality in Five *Larus* Gulls: A Comparative Study. Ornis Scand. 13: 211–224.
- Götmark, F. 1984. Food and foraging in five European *Larus* gulls in the breeding season: a comparative review. *Ornis Fenn.* **61**: 9–18.
- Greenwood, P. J. 1980. Mating systems, philopatry and dispersal in birds and mammals. -Anim. Behav. 28: 1140-1162.
- Grémillet, D. and Boulinier, T. 2009. Spatial ecology and conservation of seabirds facing global climate change: a review. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* **391**: 121–137.
- Griffith, S. C., Owens, I. P. F. and Thuman, K. A. 2002. Extra pair paternity in birds: a review of interspecific variation and adaptive function. *Mol. Ecol.* 11: 2195–2212.
- Griffiths, R., Double, M. C., Orr, K. and Dawson, R. J. G. 1998. A DNA test to sex most birds. - *Mol. Ecol.* 7: 1071–1075.
- Guilford, T., Meade, J., Willis, J., Phillips, R. A., Boyle, D., Roberts, S., Collett, M., Freeman, R. and Perrins, C. M. 2009. Migration and stopover in a small pelagic seabird, the Manx shearwater *Puffinus puffinus*: insights from machine learning. - *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 276: 1215– 1223.
- Hamer, K. C., Quillfeldt, P., Masello, J. F. and Fletcher, K. L. 2006. Sex differences in provisioning rules: responses of Manx shearwaters to supplementary chick feeding. -*Behav. Ecol.* 17: 132–137.

- Harding, A., Paredes, R., Suryan, R., Roby, D., Irons, D., Orben, R., Renner, H., Young, R., Barger, C., Dorresteijn, I. and Kitaysky, A. 2013. Does location really matter? An intercolony comparison of seabirds breeding at varying distances from productive oceanographic features in the Bering Sea. - *Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 94: 178–191.
- Harris, M. P. 1964. Aspects of the Breeding Biology of the Gulls. Ibis 106: 432-456.
- Harris, M. P. and Birkhead, T. R. 1985. Breeding ecology of the Atlantic Alcidae. In: Nettleship, D. N. and Birkhead, T. R. (eds), *The Atlantic Alcidae*. pp. 56–204.
- Hazen, E. L., Friedlaender, A. S. and Goldbogen, J. A. 2015. Blue whales (*Balaenoptera musculus*) optimize foraging efficiency by balancing oxygen use and energy gain as a function of prey density. *Sci. Adv.* 1: e1500469.
- Hedenström, A. and Alerstam, T. 1995. Optimal Flight Speed of Birds. Philos. Trans. Biol. Sci. 348: 471–487.
- Hentati-Sundberg, J., Österblom, H., Kadin, M., Jansson, Å. and Olsson, O. 2012. The Karlsö Murre lab methodology can stimulate innovative seabird research. - *Mar. Ornithol.* **40**: 11–16.
- Hermansson, C. and Wizèn, O. 2014. Fåglarna på Stora Karlsö 2013. *Rapporter om natur och miljö* nr **2014:8**. Länsstyrelsen I Gotlands Län Visby.
- Hill, R. D. 1994. Theory of geolocation by light levels. In: *Elephant Seals Popul. Ecol. Behav. Physiol.* Univ. Calif. Press Berkeley: 227–236.
- Holland, R. A. 2014. True navigation in birds: from quantum physics to global migration. *J. Zool.* **293**: 1-15.
- Holt, R. D. and Gaines, M. S. 1992. Analysis of adaptation in heterogeneous landscapes: implications for the evolution of fundamental niches. *Evol. Ecol.* 6: 433–447.
- Huin, N. and Prince, P. A. 1997. Diving Behaviour of the Grey-Headed Albatross. Antarct. Sci. 9: 243–249.
- Hunt, G. L. and Hunt, M. W. 1973. Habitat Partitioning by Foraging Gulls in Maine and Northwestern Europe. *The Auk* **90**: 827–839.
- Hussey, N. E., Kessel, S. T., Aarestrup, K., Cooke, S. J., Cowley, P. D., Fisk, A. T., Harcourt, R. G., Holland, K. N., Iverson, S. J., Kocik, J. F., Flemming, J. E. M. and Whoriskey, F. G. 2015. Aquatic animal telemetry: A panoramic window into the underwater world. -*Science* 348: 1255642.
- Hutchinson, G. E. 1957. Concluding Remarks. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 22: 415-427.
- Hutchinson, G. E. 1959. Homage to Santa Rosalia or Why Are There So Many Kinds of Animals? Am. Nat. 93: 145-159.
- IOC 2015. IOC World Bird List (v 5.3). DOI: 10.14344/IOC.ML.5.3.

- Jakubas, D., Iliszko, L. M., Strøm, H., Darecki, M., Jerstad, K. and Stempniewicz, L. 2016. Foraging behavior of a high-Arctic zooplanktivorous alcid, the little auk, at the southern edge of its breeding range. - J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 475: 89–99.
- Jeltsch, F., Bonte, D., Pe'er, G., Reineking, B., Leimgruber, P., Balkenhol, N., Schröder, B., Buchmann, C. M., Mueller, T., Blaum, N., Zurell, D., Böhning-Gaese, K., Wiegand, T., Eccard, J. A., Hofer, H., Reeg, J., Eggers, U. and Bauer, S. 2013. Integrating movement ecology with biodiversity research - exploring new avenues to address spatiotemporal biodiversity dynamics. - *Mov. Ecol.* 1: 6.
- Jiménez, S., Domingo, A., Brazeiro, A., Defeo, O., Wood, A. G., Froy, H., Xavier, J. C. and Phillips, R. A. 2015. Sex-related variation in the vulnerability of wandering albatrosses to pelagic longline fleets. - Anim. Conserv 19: 281-295
- Jones, H. P. and Kress, S. W. 2012. A review of the world's active seabird restoration projects. - J. Wildl. Manag. 76: 2–9.
- Jones, H. P., Tershy, B. R., Zavaleta, E. S., Croll, D. A., Keitt, B. S., Finkelstein, M. E. and Howald, G. R. 2008. Severity of the Effects of Invasive Rats on Seabirds: A Global Review. - Conserv. Biol. 22: 16–26.
- Jones, O. R., Scheuerlein, A., Salguero-Gómez, R., Camarda, C. G., Schaible, R., Casper, B. B., Dahlgren, J. P., Ehrlén, J., García, M. B., Menges, E. S., Quintana-Ascencio, P. F., Caswell, H., Baudisch, A. and Vaupel, J. W. 2014. Diversity of ageing across the tree of life. - Nature 505: 169–173.
- Jouventin, P. and Weimerskirch, H. 1990. Satellite tracking of Wandering albatrosses. *Nature* 343: 746–748.
- Jouventin, P., Capdeville, D., Cuenot-Chaillet, F. and Boiteau, C. 1994. Exploitation of pelagic resources by a non-flying seabird: satellite tracking of the king penguin throughout the breeding cycle. - Mar. Ecol.-Prog. Ser. 106: 11–11.
- Jovani, R., Lascelles, B., Garamszegi, L. Z., Mavor, R., Thaxter, C. B. and Oro, D. 2016. Colony size and foraging range in seabirds. – *Oikos* 125(7): 968–974.
- Kacelnik, A., Krebs, J. R. and Bernstein, C. 1992. The ideal free distribution and predator-prey populations. - Trends Ecol. Evol. 7: 50–55.
- Kadin, M., Österblom, H., Hentati-Sundberg, J. and Olsson, O. 2012. Contrasting effects of food quality and quantity on a marine top predator. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 444: 239–249.
- Kadin, M., Olsson, O., Hentati-Sundberg, J., Willerström Ehrning, E. and Blenckner, T. 2016. Common Guillemot *Uria aalge* parents adjust provisioning rates to compensate for low food quality. - *Ibis* 158: 167–178.
- Kim, S.-Y. and Monaghan, P. 2005. Effects of vegetation on nest microclimate and breeding performance of lesser black-backed gulls (*Larus fuscus*). - J. Ornithol. 146: 176–183.
- Kokubun, N., Yamamoto, T., Sato, N., Watanuki, Y., Will, A., Kitaysky, A. S. and Takahashi, A. 2015. Foraging segregation of two congeneric diving seabird species (common and thick-billed murres) breeding on St. George Island, Bering Sea. - *Biogeosciences Discuss* 12: 18151–18183.

- Kramer, G. (1961). Long-distance orientation. *Biology and Comparative Physiology of Birds* 2, 341–371.
- Kubetzki, U. and Garthe, S. 2003. Distribution, diet and habitat selection by four sympatrically breeding gull species in the south-eastern North Sea. *Mar. Biol.* 143: 199–207.
- Kylin, H., Bouwman, H. and Louette, M. 2011. Distributions of the subspecies of Lesser Blackbacked Gulls *Larus fuscus* in sub-Saharan Africa. - *Bird Study* 58: 186.
- Lade, S. J., Niiranen, S., Hentati-Sundberg, J., Blenckner, T., Boonstra, W. J., Orach, K., Quaas, M. F., Österblom, H. and Schlüter, M. 2015. An empirical model of the Baltic Sea reveals the importance of social dynamics for ecological regime shifts. - *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 112: 11120–11125.
- Leppäranta, M. and Myrberg, K. 2008. Physical oceanogprahy of the Baltic Sea. Springer.
- Lessells, C. M. and Stephens, D. W. 1983. Central place foraging: Single-prey loaders again. -Anim. Behav. 31: 238–243.
- Lewis, S., Sherratt, T. N., Hamer, K. C. and Wanless, S. 2001. Evidence of intra-specific competition for food in a pelagic seabird. - *Nature* 412: 816–819.
- Lewis, S., Phillips, R. A., Burthe, S. J., Wanless, S. and Daunt, F. 2015. Contrasting responses of male and female foraging effort to year-round wind conditions. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 84: 1490–1496.
- Liebers, D. and Helbig, A. J. 2002. Phylogeography and colonization history of Lesser Blackbacked Gulls (*Larus fuscus*) as revealed by mtDNA sequences. - *J. Evol. Biol.* 15: 1021– 1033.
- Liebers, D., De Knijff, P., Helbig, A. J. and others 2004. The herring gull complex is not a ring species. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond.-B* 271: 893–902.
- Liebers-Helbig, D., Sternkopf, V. and Helbig, A. J. 2010. The Herring Gull complex (*Larus argentatus—fuscus—cachinnans*) as a model group for recent Holarctic vertebrate radiations. In: Glaubrecht, M. (ed), *Evolution in Action*. Springer-Verlag, pp. 351–371.
- Liechti, F., Hedenström, A. and Alerstam, T. 1994. Effects of sidewinds on optimal flight speed of birds. J. Theor. Biol. 170: 219–225.
- Linnebjerg, J. F., Fort, J., Guilford, T., Reuleaux, A., Mosbech, A. and Frederiksen, M. 2013. Sympatric Breeding Auks Shift between Dietary and Spatial Resource Partitioning across the Annual Cycle. - *PLoS ONE* 8: e72987.
- Linnebjerg, J. F., Huffeldt, N. P., Falk, K., Merkel, F. R., Mosbech, A. and Frederiksen, M. 2014. Inferring seabird activity budgets from leg-mounted time-depth recorders. - J. Ornithol. 155: 301–306.
- Louzao, M., Weigand, T., Bartumeus, F. and Weimerskirch, H. 2014. Coupling instantaneous energy-budget models and behavioural mode analysis to estimate optimal foraging strategy: an example with wandering albatrosses. *Mov Ecol* 2:8.
- Macarthur, R. H. 1965. Patterns of Species Diversity. Biol. Rev. 40: 510-533.

- MacArthur, R. H. and Pianka, E. R. 1966. On Optimal Use of a Patchy Environment. Am. Nat. 100: 603–609.
- Magalháes, M., Santos, R. and Hamer, K. 2008. Dual-foraging of Cory's shearwaters in the Azores: feeding locations, behaviour at sea and implications for food provisioning of chicks. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 359: 283–293.
- Matthews, G. V. T. 1953. Navigation in the Manx shearwater. J. Exp. Biol. 30: 370-396.
- McFarlane Tranquilla, L. A., Montevecchi, W. A., Fifield, D. A., Hedd, A., Gaston, A. J., Robertson, G. J. and Phillips, R. A. 2014. Individual Winter Movement Strategies in Two Species of Murre (*Uria* spp.) in the Northwest Atlantic. - *PLoS ONE* **9**: e90583.
- Mcknight, A., Allyn, A., Duffy, D. and Irons, D. 2013. "Stepping stone" pattern in Pacific Arctic tern migration reveals the importance of upwelling areas. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 491: 253–264.
- McNamara, J. M. and Houston, A. I. 1985. Optimal foraging and learning. J. Theor. Biol. 117: 231–249.
- Milman, O. 2015. When I'm sixty-four: world's oldest tracked bird returns to refuge with mate. - The Guardian
- Missagia, R. V., Ramos, J. A., Louzao, M., Delord, K., Weimerskirch, H. and Paiva, V. H. 2015. Year-round distribution suggests spatial segregation of Cory's shearwaters, based on individual experience. - *Mar. Biol.* 162: 2279–2289.
- Möllmann, C., Diekmann, R., Müller-karulis, B., Kornilovs, G., Plikshs, M. and Axe, P. 2009. Reorganization of a large marine ecosystem due to atmospheric and anthropogenic pressure: a discontinuous regime shift in the Central Baltic Sea. - *Glob. Change Biol.* 15: 1377–1393.
- Moreno, J. 2003. Lifetime reproductive success in seabirds: interindividual differences and implications for conservation. *Sci. Mar.* **67**: 7–12.
- Moreno, R., Stowasser, G., McGill, R. A. R., Bearhop, S. and Phillips, R. A. 2016. Assessing the structure and temporal dynamics of seabird communities: the challenge of capturing marine ecosystem complexity. *J. Anim. Ecol.* **85**: 199–212.
- Mueller, T. and Fagan, W. F. 2008. Search and navigation in dynamic environments from individual behaviors to population distributions. *Oikos* 117: 654–664.
- Nathan, R., Getz, W. M., Revilla, E., Holyoak, M., Kadmon, R., Saltz, D. and Smouse, P. E. 2008. A movement ecology paradigm for unifying organismal movement research. - Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105: 19052–19059.
- Natura-2000 2015. Natura 2000 Standard Data Form Stora Karlsö SE0340023.
- Navarro, J., Kaliontzopoulou, A. and González-Solís, J. 2009. Sexual dimorphism in bill morphology and feeding ecology in Cory's shearwater (*Calonectris diomedea*). *Zoology* **112**: 128–138.

- Navarro, J., Oro, D., Bertolero, A., Genovart, M., Delgado, A. and Forero, M. G. 2010. Age and sexual differences in the exploitation of two anthropogenic food resources for an opportunistic seabird. - *Mar. Biol.* 157: 2453–2459.
- Navarro, J., Votier, S. C., Aguzzi, J., Chiesa, J. J., Forero, M. G. and Phillips, R. A. 2013. Ecological Segregation in Space, Time and Trophic Niche of Sympatric Planktivorous Petrels. - *PLoS ONE* 8: e62897.
- Nevitt, G. A. 2008. Sensory ecology on the high seas: the odor world of the procellariiform seabirds. - J Exp Biol 211: 1706–1713.
- Nobel Media AB 2015. The Nobel Prize in Physics 1956.
- Olsen, K. M. and Larsson, H. 2004. *Gulls of North America, Europe, and Asia.* Princeton University Press.
- Olsson, O., Fransson, T. and Larsson, K. 1999. Post-Fledging Migration of Common Murres *Uria Aalge* in the Baltic Sea: Management Implications. - *Ecography* 22: 233–239.
- Omstedt, A., Elken, J., Lehmann, A., Leppäranta, M., Meier, H. E. M., Myrberg, K. and Rutgersson, A. 2014. Progress in physical oceanography of the Baltic Sea during the 2003–2014 period. - *Prog. Oceanogr.* 128: 139–171.
- Oppel, S., Beard, A., Fox, D., Mackley, E., Leat, E., Henry, L., Clingham, E., Fowler, N., Sim, J., Sommerfeld, J., Weber, N., Weber, S. and Bolton, M. 2015. Foraging distribution of a tropical seabird supports Ashmole's hypothesis of population regulation. - *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 69: 915–926.
- Orben, R. A., Paredes, R., Roby, D. D., Irons, D. B. and Shaffer, S. A. 2015. Body size affects individual winter foraging strategies of thick-billed murres in the Bering Sea. - J. Anim. Ecol. 84: 1589–1599.
- Orgeret, F., Weimerskirch, H. and Bost, C.-A. 2016. Early diving behaviour in juvenile penguins: improvement or selection processes. *Biol. Lett.* **12**(8): 20160490.
- Orians, G. H. and Pearson, N. E. 1979. On the theory of central place foraging. In: *Analysis of ecological systems*. Ohio State University Press, Columbus. pp. 155–177.
- Österblom, H., Hansson, S., Larsson, U., Hjerne, O., Wulff, F., Elmgren, R. and Folke, C. 2007. Human-induced Trophic Cascades and Ecological Regime Shifts in the Baltic Sea. *Ecosystems* 10: 877–889.
- Ottosson, U., Ottvall, R., Elmberg, J., Green, M., Gustafsson, R., Haas, F., Holmkvist, N., Lindström, Å., Nilsson, L., Svensson, M., Svensson, S. & Tjernberg, M. (2012). Fåglarna i Sverige - antal och förekomst. SOF, Halmstad. [In Swedish]
- Paleczny, M., Hammill, E., Karpouzi, V. and Pauly, D. 2015. Population Trend of the World's Monitored Seabirds, 1950-2010. - PLOS ONE 10: e0129342.
- Papi, F. 2006. Navigation of marine, freshwater and coastal animals: concepts and current problems. - Mar. Freshw. Behav. Physiol. 39: 3–12.
- Parker, M. W., Kress, S. W., Golightly, R. T., Carter, H. R., Parsons, E. B., Schubel, S. E., Boyce, J. A., McChesney, G. J. and Wisely, S. M. 2007. Assessment of social attraction

techniques used to restore a Common Murre colony in central California. - *Waterbirds* **30**: 17–28.

- Patrick, S. C. and Weimerskirch, H. 2014. Consistency pays: sex differences and fitness consequences of behavioural specialization in a wide-ranging seabird. *Biol. Lett.* 10: 20140630.
- Pennycuick, C. J. 1978. Fifteen Testable Predictions about Bird Flight. Oikos 30: 165–176.
- Pennycuick, C. J. 1987. Flight of Auks (Alcidae) and Other Northern Seabirds Compared with Southern Procellariiformes: Ornithodolite Observations. - J. Exp. Biol. 128: 335–347.
- Pennycuick, C. J. 2008. Modelling the flying bird. Academic Press, 2008.
- Pennycuick, C., Fast, P., Ballerstädt, N. and Rattenborg, N. 2012. The effect of an external transmitter on the drag coefficient of a bird's body, and hence on migration range, and energy reserves after migration. *J. Ornithol.* **153**: 633–644.
- Phillips, R. A., Xavier, J. C., Croxall, J. P. and Burger, A. E. 2003. Effects of satellite transmitters on albatrosses and petrels. - *The Auk* 120: 1082–1090.
- Phillips, R. A., Silk, J. R. D., Croxall, J. P. and Afanasyev, V. 2006. Year-round distribution of white-chinned petrels from South Georgia: Relationships with oceanography and fisheries. - *Biol. Conserv.* 129: 336–347.
- Piatt, J. F. 1990. The aggregative response of common murres and Atlantic puffins to schools of capelin. - Stud. Avian Biol. 14: 36–51.
- Pierotti, R. and Annett, C. 1987. Reproductive Consequences of Dietary Specialization and Switching in an Ecological Generalist. - In: Kamil, A. C. et al. (eds), *Foraging Behavior*. Springer US, pp. 417–442.
- Piersma, T., Lindeboom, R. and Eerden, M. R. 1988. Foraging rhythm of great crested grebes *Podiceps cristatus* adjusted to diel variations in the vertical distribution of their prey *Osmerus eperlanus* in a shallow eutrophic lake in The Netherlands. - *Oecologia* 76: 481– 486.
- Pikitch, E. K., Rountos, K. J., Essington, T. E., Santora, C., Pauly, D., Watson, R., Sumaila, U. R., Boersma, P. D., Boyd, I. L., Conover, D. O., Cury, P., Heppell, S. S., Houde, E. D., Mangel, M., Plagányi, É., Sainsbury, K., Steneck, R. S., Geers, T. M., Gownaris, N. and Munch, S. B. 2014. The global contribution of forage fish to marine fisheries and ecosystems. - *Fish Fish.* 15: 43–64.
- Pistorius, P. A., Hindell, M. A., Tremblay, Y. and Rishworth, G. M. 2015. Weathering a Dynamic Seascape: Influences of Wind and Rain on a Seabird's Year-Round Activity Budgets. *PLoS ONE* 10: e0142623.
- Pollet, I. L., Hedd, A., Taylor, P. D., Montevecchi, W. A. and Shutler, D. 2014. Migratory movements and wintering areas of Leach's Storm-Petrels tracked using geolocators. - J. Field Ornithol. 85: 321–328.

- Pollonara, E., Luschi, P., Guilford, T., Wikelski, M., Bonadonna, F. and Gagliardo, A. 2015. Olfaction and topography, but not magnetic cues, control navigation in a pelagic seabird: displacements with shearwaters in the Mediterranean Sea. - Sci. Rep. 5: 16486.
- Ponchon, A., Grémillet, D., Doligez, B., Chambert, T., Tveraa, T., González-Solís, J. and Boulinier, T. 2013. Tracking prospecting movements involved in breeding habitat selection: insights, pitfalls and perspectives. - *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 4: 143–150.
- Ponchon, A., Iliszko, L., Grémillet, D., Tveraa, T. and Boulinier, T. 2017. Intense prospecting movements of failed breeders nesting in an unsuccessful breeding subcolony. - Anim. Behav. 124: 183–191.
- Quillfeldt, P., Masello, J. F. and Segelbacher, G. 2012. Extra-pair paternity in seabirds: a review and case study of Thin-billed Prions *Pachyptila belcheri. J. Ornithol.* **153**: 367–373.
- Quillfeldt, P., Phillips, R. A., Marx, M. and Masello, J. F. 2014. Colony attendance and at-sea distribution of thin-billed prions during the early breeding season. *J. Avian Biol.* 45: 315–324.
- Rayleigh 1883. The soaring of birds. Nature 27: 534-535.
- Reed, T. E., Kruuk, L. E. B., Wanless, S., Frederiksen, M., Cunningham, E. J. A. and Harris, M. P. 2008. Reproductive senescence in a long-lived seabird: rates of decline in late-life performance are associated with varying costs of early reproduction. - Am. Nat. 171: 89– 101.
- Ricklefs, R. E. 1983. Comparative Avian Demography. In: Johnston, R. F. (ed), *Current Ornithology*. Springer US, pp. 1–32.
- Ricklefs, R. E. 1990. Seabird Life Histories and the Marine Environment: Some Speculations. - Colon. Waterbirds 13: 1–6.
- Ricklefs, R. E. and Wikelski, M. 2002. The physiology/life-history nexus. Trends Ecol. Evol. 17: 462–468.
- Riotte-Lambert, L. and Weimerskirch, H. 2013. Do naive juvenile seabirds forage differently from adults? *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 280(1768): 2013.1434.
- Roby, D. D., Taylor, J. R. E. and Place, A. R. 1997. Significance of Stomach Oil for Reproduction in Seabirds: An Interspecies Cross-Fostering Experiment. - *The Auk* 114: 725–736.
- Roos, S. & Amcoff, M. (2010). Fågelfaunans utveckling i Uppsala läns skärgård efter införandet av jakt på mink. Rapport, Upplandsstiftelsen, Länstyrelsen i Uppsala län. [In Swedish]
- Ross-Smith, V. H., Robinson, R. A., Banks, A. N., Frayling, T. D., Gibson, C. C. and Clark, J. A. 2014. The Lesser Black-backed Gull *Larus fuscus* in England: how to resolve a conservation conundrum. - *Seabird* 27: 41–61.
- Ross-Smith, V. H., Johnston, A. and Ferns, P. N. 2015. Hatching success in Lesser Blackbacked Gulls *Larus fuscus*-an island case study of the effects of egg and nest site quality. *Seabird* 28: 1–16.

- Sato, N. N., Kokubun, N., Yamamoto, T., Watanuki, Y., Kitaysky, A. S. and Takahashi, A. 2015. The jellyfish buffet: jellyfish enhance seabird foraging opportunities by concentrating prey. - *Biol. Lett.* 11: 20150358.
- Savage, A. 1987. The Place of Old English Poetry in the English Meditative Tradition. -Mediev. Mystical Tradit. Engl.: 91–110.
- Scales, K. L., Miller, P. I., Hawkes, L. A., Ingram, S. N., Sims, D. W. and Votier, S. C. 2014a. On the Front Line: frontal zones as priority at-sea conservation areas for mobile marine vertebrates. - J. Appl. Ecol. 51: 1575–1583.
- Scales, K. L., Miller, P. I., Embling, C. B., Ingram, S. N., Pirotta, E. and Votier, S. C. 2014b. Mesoscale fronts as foraging habitats: composite front mapping reveals oceanographic drivers of habitat use for a pelagic seabird. - J. R. Soc. Interface 11: 20140679.
- Schwemmer, P. and Garthe, S. 2005. At-sea distribution and behaviour of a surface-feeding seabird, the lesser black-backed gull *Larus fuscus*, and its association with different prey. -*Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 285: 245–258.
- Shamoun-Baranes, J. and Loon, E. van 2006. Energetic influence on gull flight strategy selection. - J. Exp. Biol. 209: 3489–3498.
- Shamoun-Baranes, J., Bouten, W., Loon, E. E. van, Meijer, C. and Camphuysen, C. J. 2016. Flap or soar? How a flight generalist responds to its aerial environment. - *Phil Trans R Soc* B 371: 20150395.
- Shealer, D. 2001. Foraging Behavior and Food of Seabirds. In: Schreiber, E. A. and Burger, J. (eds), *Biology of Marine Birds*. CRC Press, pp. 137–177.
- Shiomi, K., Lötberg, U. and Åkesson, S. 2015. Seasonal distributions of Caspian Terns *Hydroprogne caspia* from Swedish populations, revealed by recoveries and resightings of ringed birds. - *Ringing Migr.* 30: 22–36.
- Sibly, R. M. and McCleery, R. H. 1983. Increase in Weight of Herring Gulls While Feeding. -J. Anim. Ecol. 52: 35.
- Siegel-Causey, D. and Kharitonov, S. P. 1990. The evolution of coloniality. *Curr. Ornithol.* 7: 285–330.
- Soanes, L. M., Arnould, J. P. Y., Dodd, S. G., Sumner, M. D. and Green, J. A. 2013. How many seabirds do we need to track to define home-range area? *J. Appl. Ecol.* **50**: 671–679.
- Sorensen, M. C., Hipfner, J. M., Kyser, T. K. and Norris, D. R. 2009. Carry-over effects in a Pacific seabird: stable isotope evidence that pre-breeding diet quality influences reproductive success. - J. Anim. Ecol. 78: 460–467.
- Spear, L. B. and Ainley, D. G. 1997. Flight speed of seabirds in relation to wind speed and direction. *Ibis* 139: 234-251.
- Spiegel, O., Leu, S. T., Bull, C. M. and Sih, A. 2017. What's your move? Movement as a link between personality and spatial dynamics in animal populations. - *Ecol. Lett.* 20: 3–18.

- Stauss, C., Bearhop, S., Bodey, T. W., Garthe, S., Gunn, C., Grecian, W. J., Inger, R., Knight, M. E., Newton, J. and Patrick, S. C. 2012. Sex-specific foraging behaviour in northern gannets *Morus bassanus*: incidence and implications. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 457: 151–162.
- Strann, K. B. and Vader, W. 1992. The nominate lesser black-backed gull *Larus fuscus fuscus*, a gull with a tern-like feeding biology, and its recent decrease in northern Norway. Ardea 80: 133–142.
- Thaxter, C. B., Daunt, F., Hamer, K. C., Watanuki, Y., Harris, M. P., Grémillet, D., Peters, G. and Wanless, S. 2009. Sex-specific food provisioning in a monomorphic seabird, the common guillemot *Uria aalge*: nest defence, foraging efficiency or parental effort? - *J. Avian Biol.* 40: 75–84.
- Thaxter, C. B., Wanless, S., Daunt, F., Harris, M. P., Benvenuti, S., Watanuki, Y., Gremillet, D. and Hamer, K. C. 2010. Influence of wing loading on the trade-off between pursuitdiving and flight in common guillemots and razorbills. - J. Exp. Biol. 213: 1018–1025.
- Thaxter, C. B., Lascelles, B., Sugar, K., Cook, A. S. C. P., Roos, S., Bolton, M., Langston, R. H. W. and Burton, N. H. K. 2012. Seabird foraging ranges as a preliminary tool for identifying candidate Marine Protected Areas. *Biol. Conserv.* 156: 53–61.
- Thaxter, C. B., Ross-Smith, V. H., Clark, J. A., Clark, N. A., Conway, G. J., Marsh, M., Leat, E. H. K. and Burton, N. H. K. 2014. A trial of three harness attachment methods and their suitability for long-term use on Lesser Black-backed Gulls and Great Skuas. - *Ringing Migr.* 29: 65–76.
- Thaxter, C. B., Ross-Smith, V. H., Clark, J. A., Clark, N. A., Conway, G. J., Masden, E. A., Wade, H. M., Leat, E. H. K., Gear, S. C., Marsh, M., Booth, C., Furness, R. W., Votier, S. C. and Burton, N. H. K. 2015. Contrasting effects of GPS device and harness attachment on adult survival of Lesser Black-backed Gulls *Larus fuscus* and Great Skuas *Stercorarius skua. - Ibis* 158: 279–290.
- Thiebault, A., Mullers, R., Pistorius, P., Meza-Torres, M. A., Dubroca, L., Green, D. and Tremblay, Y. 2014. From colony to first patch: Processes of prey searching and social information in Cape Gannets. - *The Auk* 131: 595–609.
- Todd Jones, T., Van Houtan, K. S., Bostrom, B. L., Ostafichuk, P., Mikkelsen, J., Tezcan, E., Carey, M., Imlach, B. and Seminoff, J. A. 2013. Calculating the ecological impacts of animal-borne instruments on aquatic organisms. - *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 4(12): 1178-1186.
- Tyson, C., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Loon, E. E. V., Camphuysen, K. (C J.) and Hintzen, N. T. 2015. Individual specialization on fishery discards by lesser black-backed gulls (*Larus fuscus*). *ICES J. Mar. Sci. J. Cons.*: fsv021.
- Väisänen, R. A. 1973. Establishment of Colonies of Caspian Tern *Hydroprogne caspia* by Deserting Flights in the Northern Gulf of Bothnia. *Ornis Scand.* 4: 47–53.
- Vandenabeele, S. P., Shepard, E. L., Grogan, A. and Wilson, R. P. 2012. When three per cent may not be three per cent; device-equipped seabirds experience variable flight constraints. - Mar. Biol. 159(1): 1-14.

- Vander Zanden, H. B., Bjorndal, K. A. and Bolten, A. B. 2013. Temporal consistency and individual specialization in resource use by green turtles in successive life stages. - Oecologia 173: 767–777.
- Wagner, R. H. 1999. S22. 2: Sexual selection and colony formation (NJ Adams and RH Slotow, Eds.). - Proc. 22nd Int. Ornithol. Congr.
- Wakefield, E., Phillips, R. and Matthiopoulos, J. 2009a. Quantifying habitat use and preferences of pelagic seabirds using individual movement data: a review. - Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 391: 165–182.
- Wakefield, E. D., Phillips, R. A., Matthiopoulos, J., Fukuda, A., Higuchi, H., Marshall, G. J. and Trathan, P. N. 2009b. Wind field and sex constrain the flight speeds of central-place foraging albatrosses. - *Ecol. Monogr.* 79: 663–679.
- Wakefield, E. D., Bodey, T. W., Bearhop, S., Blackburn, J., Colhoun, K., Davies, R., Dwyer, R. G., Green, J. A., Grémillet, D., Jackson, A. L., Jessopp, M. J., Kane, A., Langston, R. H. W., Lescroël, A., Murray, S., Nuz, M. L., Patrick, S. C., Péron, C., Soanes, L. M., Wanless, S., Votier, S. C. and Hamer, K. C. 2013. Space Partitioning Without Territoriality in Gannets. *Science* 341: 68–70.
- Wakefield, E. D., Cleasby, I. R., Bearhop, S., Bodey, T. W., Davies, R. D., Miller, P. I., Newton, J., Votier, S. C. and Hamer, K. C. 2015. Long-term individual foraging site fidelity—why some gannets don't change their spots. - *Ecology* 96: 3058–3074.
- Wanless, S., Morris, J. A. and Harris, M. P. 1988. Diving behaviour of guillemot Uria aalge, puffin Fratercula arctica and razorbill Alca torda as shown by radio-telemetry. - J. Zool. 216: 73–81.
- Ward, P. and Zahavi, A. 1973. The Importance of Certain Assemblages of Birds as "Information-Centres" for Food-Finding. - *Ibis* 115: 517–534.
- Warham, J. 1990. The petrels: their ecology and breeding systems. A&C Black.
- Warham, J., Watts, R. and Dainty, R. J. 1976. The composition, energy content and function of the stomach oils of petrels (order, procellariiformes). - J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 23: 1– 13.
- Watanabe, Y. Y., Sato, K., Watanuki, Y., Takahashi, A., Mitani, Y., Amano, M., Aoki, K., Narazaki, T., Iwata, T., Minamikawa, S. and Miyazaki, N. 2011. Scaling of swim speed in breath-hold divers. - J. Anim. Ecol. 80: 57–68.
- Watanuki, Y., Wanless, S., Harris, M., Lovvorn, J. R., Miyazaki, M., Tanaka, H. and Sato, K. 2006. Swim speeds and stroke patterns in wing-propelled divers: a comparison among alcids and a penguin. - J. Exp. Biol. 209: 1217–1230.
- Weimerskirch, H. 1998. How can a pelagic seabird provision its chick when relying on a distant food resource? Cyclic attendance at the colony, foraging decision and body condition in sooty shearwaters. - J. Anim. Ecol. 67: 99–109.
- Weimerskirch, H. 2007. Are seabirds foraging for unpredictable resources? Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 54: 211–223.

- Weimerskirch, H., Chastel, O., Ackermann, L., Chaurand, T., Cuenot-Chaillet, F., Hindermeyer, X. and Judas, J. 1994. Alternate long and short foraging trips in pelagic seabird parents. - Anim. Behav. 47: 472–476.
- Weimerskirch, H., Guionnet, T., Martin, J., Shaffer, S. A. and Costa, D. P. 2000. Fast and fuel efficient? Optimal use of wind by flying albatrosses. - *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 267: 1869– 1874.
- Weimerskirch, H., Bonadonna, F., Bailleul, F., Mabille, G., Dell'Omo, G. and Lipp, H.-P. 2002. GPS tracking of foraging albatrosses. *Science* 295: 1259.
- Weimerskirch, H., Ancel, A., Caloin, M., Zahariev, A., Spagiari, J., Kersten, M. and Chastel, O. 2003. Foraging efficiency and adjustment of energy expenditure in a pelagic seabird provisioning its chick. - J. Anim. Ecol. 72: 500–508.
- Weimerskirch, H., Åkesson, S. and Pinaud, D. 2006. Postnatal dispersal of wandering albatrosses *Diomedea exulans*: implications for the conservation of the species. - J. Avian Biol. 37: 23–28.
- Weimerskirch, H., Louzao, M., de Grissac, S. and Delord, K. 2012. Changes in Wind Pattern Alter Albatross Distribution and Life-History Traits. - *Science* 335: 211–214.
- Weimerskirch, H., Cherel, Y., Delord, K., Jaeger, A., Patrick, S. C. and Riotte-Lambert, L. 2014. Lifetime foraging patterns of the wandering albatross: Life on the move! - J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 450: 68–78.
- Welcker Jorg, Harding Ann M. A., Karnovsky Nina J., Steen Harald, Strøm Hallvard and Gabrielsen Geir W. 2009. Flexibility in the bimodal foraging strategy of a high Arctic alcid, the little auk *Alle alle. - J. Avian Biol.* 40: 388–399.
- Wienecke, B., Robertson, G., Kirkwood, R. and Lawton, K. 2007. Extreme dives by freeranging emperor penguins. - *Polar Biol.* **30**: 133–142.
- Wikelski, M., Arriero, E., Gagliardo, A., Holland, R. A., Huttunen, M. J., Juvaste, R., Mueller, I., Tertitski, G., Thorup, K., Wild, M., Alanko, M., Bairlein, F., Cherenkov, A., Cameron, A., Flatz, R., Hannila, J., Hüppop, O., Kangasniemi, M., Kranstauber, B., Penttinen, M.-L., Safi, K., Semashko, V., Schmid, H. and Wistbacka, R. 2015. True navigation in migrating gulls requires intact olfactory nerves. - *Sci. Rep.* 5: 17061.
- Wilson, R. P. 2010. Resource partitioning and niche hyper-volume overlap in free-living *Pygoscelid* penguins. *Funct. Ecol.* 24: 646–657.
- Wilson, R. P., Kreye, J. M., Lucke, K. and Urquhart, H. 2004. Antennae on transmitters on penguins: balancing energy budgets on the high wire. J. Exp. Biol. 207: 2649–2662.
- Wiltschko, R. and Wiltschko, W. 2003. Avian navigation: from historical to modern concepts. *Anim. Behav.* **65**: 257–272.
- Wittenberger, J. F. and Hunt, G. L. 1985. The adaptive significance of coloniality in birds. -*Avian Biol.* 8: 1–78.

- Yoda, K., Murakoshi, M., Tsutsui, K. and Kohno, H. 2011. Social Interactions of Juvenile Brown Boobies at Sea as Observed with Animal-Borne Video Cameras. - *PLoS ONE* 6: e19602.
- Yoda, K., Tomita, N., Mizutani, Y., Narita, A. and Niizuma, Y. 2012. Spatio-temporal responses of black-tailed gulls to natural and anthropogenic food resources. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 466: 249–259.
- Young, H. S., McCauley, D. J., Dirzo, R., Dunbar, R. D. and Shaffer, S. A. 2010. Niche partitioning among and within sympatric tropical seabirds revealed by stable isotope analysis. - *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 416: 285–294.
- Young, R. C., Kitaysky, A. S., Haussmann, M. F., Descamps, S., Orben, R. A., Elliott, K. H. and Gaston, A. J. 2013. Age, Sex, and Telomere Dynamics in a Long-Lived Seabird with Male-Biased Parental Care. - *PLoS ONE* 8: e74931.
- Zera, A. J. and Harshman, L. G. 2001. The Physiology of Life History Trade-Offs in Animals. - Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 32: 95–126.
- Zhang, H., Rebke, M., Becker, P. H. and Bouwhuis, S. 2015. Fitness prospects: effects of age, sex and recruitment age on reproductive value in a long-lived seabird. - *J. Anim. Ecol.* 84: 199–207.



Seabirds at Porth Ychain, by Diane Evans

Across landscapes and seascapes

- I Evans, T.J., Kadin, M., Olsson, O., and Åkesson, S. (2013). Foraging behaviour of common murres in the Baltic Sea, recorded by simultaneous attachment of GPS and time-depth recorder devices. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 475, 277–289.
- II Evans, T.J., Young, R.C., Watson, H., Olsson, O., Åkesson, S. Back-mounted tags have limited effects on a flying and diving seabird. (Manuscript).
- III Evans, T.J., Hedenström, A., Hentati-Sundberg, J., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Åkesson, S. Adaptive adjustment of flight height and airspeed in relation to winds in two morphologically distinct seabird species (Manuscript).
- IV Isaksson, N., Evans, T.J., Shamoun-Baranes, J., and Åkesson, S. (2016) Land or sea? Foraging area choice during breeding by an omnivorous gull. *Movement Ecology* 4, 11.
- V Evans, T.J., Shiomi, K., Isaksson, N., Löteberg, U., Bouten, W., Åkesson, S. Niche sharing and partitioning during foraging among a quartet of coastal gulls. (Manuscript).
- VI Åkesson, S., Evans, T.J., Shiomi, K., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Bouten, W., and Lötberg, U. On the move for food or a new home? Long-distance return movements by Lesser Black-backed Gull during breeding. (Manuscript).

LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Science Department of Biology ISBN 978-91-7753-186-9